

New restrictions on freedom of expression in Vietnam

Michael Altman-Lupu Ben Swanton

January 22, 2025

## **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

Vietnam has long restricted political speech. As early as the 1950s, the Democratic Republic of Vietnam shut down two major journals that called for loosening restrictions on speech and imprisoned those associated with the journals. The introduction of the internet in the 1990s, however, ushered in a new era. As a result of the internet, Vietnamese citizens were able to access information from diverse sources and had more freedom to voice their political opinions (albeit at some risk) on a wide range of topics.

International human rights organizations have often portrayed Vietnam as extremely repressive when it comes to freedom of expression. Critiquing these assessments, Benedict Kerkvliet, the leading scholar on the subject, has argued that Vietnam reacts to dissent with a mix of responsiveness, toleration, and repression, with repression used as a method of last resort.<sup>2</sup>

While research like Kerkvliet's paints a nuanced picture of the actual state of political discourse in Vietnam, the trend toward openness he identified has not continued. After hardliners took control of the Communist Party of Vietnam (CPV) in 2016, the party elite enacted political resolutions to maintain party hegemony and which established a nationwide network of brigades to police online discourse. The government was quick to follow, passing laws to control online speech and the press.<sup>3</sup> And over the last five years, the police have shut down the only independent journalists' association, publishing house, and anti-corruption organization operating in the country.

This report is not an exhaustive study of political speech or state responses to such expression. Instead, we attempt to provide an overview of the extraordinary efforts by Hanoi to restrict speech. A separate question, outside of the scope of this report, is whether these efforts have succeeded.

While the report does consider long-standing methods of repression, our focus centers on restrictions of expression, in particular online expression, that have been enacted in

recent years. In doing so, we have attempted to identify areas which have been most under attack since 2016 when the new wave of repression began. The report concludes with a series of recommendations on what actions Vietnam can take to respect the right to free expression. We also suggest a series of actions that countries which have recently upgraded diplomatic relations with Vietnam can take to support this agenda.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

<b>EXECUTIVE SUMMARY</b>	2
GLOSSARY	5
KEY POINTS	6
INTRODUCTION	8
INTERNATIONAL LAW	9
Permissible restrictions on speech	10
CONSTITUTION	12
PARTY APPARATUS	13
Directives and resolutions	13
Institutions	15
GOVERNMENT POLICY	18
Censorship regime	18
Cybersecurity Law	21
Law on the Press	24
Law on Telecommunications	25
Law on Information Technology	26
Relevant government decrees	26
Criminal law	28
Article 117	28
Article 331	29
Article 200	30
Articles 155 and 156	31
Summons system	33
Vietnam's criminal code in light of international law	34
Fines	34
Privacy and anonymity	36
Personal data protection framework	37
Al surveillance of social media	38
The right to privacy under international law	40
Access to Information	41
CONCLUSION	43
RECOMMENDATIONS	45
REFERENCES	47

## **GLOSSARY**

**CCPR** UN Human Rights Committee

**CPV** Communist Party of Vietnam

**DCHCP** Department of Cybersecurity and High-tech Crime Prevention

**EVFTA** EU-Vietnam Free Trade Agreement

ICCPR International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights

IJAVN Independent Journalists Association of Vietnam

**JETP** Just Energy Transition Partnership

MIC Ministry of Information and Communications

MPS Ministry of Public Security

**VNNIC** Vietnam National Internet Center

**VNPT** Vietnam Posts and Telecommunications Group

## **KEY POINTS**

- Starting in 2016, after a period of relative openness, Vietnam again cracked down on dissent.
- Implementing party resolutions and directives, the government has developed an elaborate policy framework that limits political speech in the digital sphere.
  - The laws which have helped establish this censorship apparatus include the Cybersecurity Law, the Law on the Press, the Law on Information Technology, and the Law on Telecommunications, as well as numerous implementing decrees.
  - Hanoi has used this framework to remove content from social media.
  - o On November 9, 2024, the government issued Decree 147, which threatens to further restrict online speech by empowering the government to access more user data and order social media platforms to remove content.
- Vietnam uses a range of criminal sanctions against individual free speech, including detention, imprisonment, and legal harassment.
  - Criminal sanctions for political speech provide the government with the legal basis to harass and imprison dissidents while also encouraging people to selfcensor.
  - o During the current crackdown, the government has principally charged those who voice dissent under Articles 117, 155, 156, 200, and 331 of the criminal code.
- In addition to criminal punishment, Vietnam fines individuals and organizations who speak critically of the government.
  - o Online media platforms, as well as ordinary users, have been fined.
  - Generally, fines are issued for offenses considered not serious enough to merit criminal prosecution.
- The country's legal framework violates the privacy and data security of people in Vietnam.
  - The Cybersecurity Law requires internet service providers to authenticate user information upon registration.

- Draft legislation on personal data introduced in September 2024 would allow government officials to access user data without oversight.
- Decree 147, which was issued in November 2024, requires that social media platforms authenticate users by phone or personal identification number.
   These companies must store this user data in Vietnam and provide it to the government upon request.<sup>4</sup>
- While the Law on Access to Information supposedly protects the right of the people
  to obtain information in the public interest, contradictory policies such as the Law
  on Protection of State Secrets limit government transparency.

## INTRODUCTION

This report provides an overview of the methods Vietnam uses to restrict speech. It does not, however, evaluate the effectiveness of these policies and the various ways in which they are resisted.

We begin by detailing Vietnam's obligations under international law, which we use to assess the permissibility of its restrictions on speech. Then, we discuss freedom of expression under the constitution and outline why formal constitutional protections do not result in free speech for the Vietnamese people.

In the next section, we describe the party resolutions and directives that set the CPV's political agendas in relation to speech. We explore how under Resolution 35, the CPV has deployed a nationwide network of cyber police.

Our focus then shifts to analyzing government policies related to expression. We describe the censorship apparatus that controls what information can be published online. In addition, we explore how criminal law and administrative sanctions are used to suppress speech.

Finally, we discuss policies and practices that relate to other aspects of freedom of expression, including the use of surveillance and personal data protection. We find that Hanoi has given itself the authority to access the user data of people who make posts critical of the government online. At the sub-national level, we document how provincial and city governments are partnering with telecommunication companies to monitor social media using AI technology. Finally, we summarize restrictions on access to information.

The report concludes that Vietnam has gone to extreme lengths to regulate political speech and silence dissent.

## INTERNATIONAL LAW

Freedom of expression is the right to seek, receive, and share information and ideas without undue government interference. It includes the right to practice journalism, voice opinions on politics and public affairs, and discuss human rights and religion.<sup>5</sup> Freedom of expression encompasses speech that may be highly insulting of the government, country, or political parties.<sup>6</sup>

Freedom of expression is foundational for transparency and accountability, which are, in turn, essential for the promotion and protection of other human rights. As stated by the UN Human Rights Committee (CCPR)—the expert group established to interpret and promote implementation of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (ICCPR), freedom of expression helps to ensure that all other human rights norms are maintained.

International law is especially protective of open political debate and the right of people to criticize public officials.<sup>9</sup> The CCPR has written:

The free communication of information and ideas about public and political issues between citizens, candidates, and elected representatives is essential. This implies a free press and other media able to comment on public issues and to inform public opinion without censorship or restraint.<sup>10</sup>

Because of the importance of political speech for democracy, the CCPR has stated that restrictions on free expression can never be imposed 'as a justification for the muzzling of any advocacy of multi-party democracy, democratic tenets, and human rights'.<sup>11</sup>

The UN Human Rights Council and the UN General Assembly have emphasized that the right to freedom of expression also applies to online expression.<sup>12</sup> Likewise, the CCPR has confirmed that protected platforms for expression include 'electronic and Internet-based modes of expression'.<sup>13</sup> The CCPR has clarified that the definition of journalists under international law includes bloggers and any others who self-publish

their work on the internet.<sup>14</sup> As such, any restrictions on websites or blogs are only allowed if they are otherwise permissible under international law.<sup>15</sup>

Frank La Rue, former UN Special Rapporteur on freedom of opinion and expression, stated that attempts by states to restrict, control, manipulate, and censor content disseminated via the internet, if enacted through vague laws without legal justification, are violations of international law. La Rue has also highlighted the importance of the internet in countries like Vietnam where access to information is limited. The internet, he says, offers a means for marginalized and disadvantaged groups to obtain information, assert their rights, and participate in public debates.

## PERMISSIBLE RESTRICTIONS ON SPEECH

Under international law, restrictions on expression are only permissible in certain, narrow circumstances. Article 19 of the ICCPR outlines a three-part test that restrictions on this right must satisfy to be permissible.

First, a restriction must be provided by law. That is, it must be set down in formal legislation and must not be vague. The restriction must be established by general rule to avoid arbitrary restrictions on human rights.<sup>19</sup> In addition, the law must be precise enough to enable an individual to know what conduct is proscribed and the language of the law must be made accessible to the public.<sup>20</sup>

Second, any restriction on expression must be necessary for the protection of national security, public order, public health, public morals, or the rights of others. This is a comprehensive list—no other government interests can justify a restriction on speech.<sup>21</sup> It is essential that these restrictions are not discriminatory or intended to discourage government criticism or cause a chilling effect on speech.<sup>22</sup>

Third, and finally, a restriction must be a necessary and proportionate means of achieving one of the permissible justifications outlined above. That is, it must be the least intrusive means of achieving its protective function. In addition, the detrimental impact of the interference cannot outweigh the resulting benefit of the restriction.

In addition to the general framework provided by the ICCPR, it is essential that any restriction on expression be content neutral. That is, the restriction must not be related to the message intended to be conveyed.<sup>23</sup>

If the government's motivation in enacting a law is improper, the law itself is improper. The CCPR has stated that '[r]estrictions must be applied only for those purposes for which they were prescribed and must be directly related to the specific need on which they are predicated'.<sup>24</sup>

Throughout this report, we will apply this framework to analyze the legitimacy of various policies that Vietnam uses to regulate political speech. In the following sections, we will provide an overview of Vietnam's constitutional protections for speech, CPV resolutions and directives on speech, and the laws and policies that have been implemented by the Vietnamese government to silence dissent.

## **CONSTITUTION**

Despite lofty proclamations in the constitution, Vietnamese citizens do not enjoy the right to free speech. Article 25 of the constitution guarantees that all citizens 'shall enjoy the right to freedom of opinion and speech, freedom of the press, of access to information, to assemble, form associations, and hold demonstrations'.<sup>25</sup>

However, the exercise of these rights is circumscribed by Articles 14 and 15 of the constitution. Article 14 clarifies that the exercise of the rights listed in Article 25 can be restricted to protect 'national security, social order and security, social morality, and community well-being'.<sup>26</sup> Article 15 specifies that 'the practice of human rights and citizens' rights must not infringe upon national interests'.<sup>27</sup>

This report will demonstrate that the government has used these carveouts to justify a host of restrictions on speech. Further, while the constitution is characterized by Hanoi as the supreme law of the land, party directives and government laws and directives tend to take precedence over the constitution in deciding how political speech is regulated.

Because of the precedence of party directives and resolutions over the constitution, we will turn to an overview of these next. We will also discuss the role of institutions, particularly the Central Propaganda Department, and how through the committee, the CPV has deployed brigades on social media to police online speech and ensure official narratives prevail.

## PARTY APPARATUS

## **DIRECTIVES AND RESOLUTIONS**

Vietnam is a one-party state in which the CPV sets the political agenda and exercises hegemonic control over state institutions.<sup>28</sup> Article 4 of the constitution established the CPV as the only legitimate political party in the country.<sup>29</sup> Senior party members form the leadership of the state apparatus, parliament, the armed forces, and the police—institutions that are kept in check by embedded party cells.<sup>30</sup> While the party is supposedly accountable to the people, it cannot be voted out of power.

The most powerful party institutions are the Central Party Central Committee and its Political Bureau, which together set the party's policies. The committee has a party and a government wing. The party wing is made up of officials who rose up through the party apparatus, while the government wing is comprised of officials in the state bureaucracy.<sup>31</sup> Over the years, party and government wings have vied to control the state, with the party wing winning out in 2016 and remaining in power since.

The CPV sets political agendas on speech through resolutions and directives which it implements through party institutions. In July 2023, the Political Bureau issued Directive 24-CT/TW, in which it orders the government to crack down on foreign influence and restrict political speech.<sup>32</sup>

With regards to free expression, Directive 24 orders the government to:

- 'Promote the role of the press and media in fighting populist trends, civil disobedience, wrongful views and sabotage by hostile forces, and efforts to promote a hybrid foreign culture that does not conform to the customs and traditions of the nation' (p.5).
- 'Strictly handle the act of taking advantage of information communication infrastructure and social networks to spread false propaganda that sabotages the party, state, people, and our country's socialist regime' (p.5).

- 'Fight fake news, especially in cyberspace' (p.5).
- 'Develop rules of civilized behavior in state agencies, businesses, society, and cyberspace' (p.5).

Directive 24 orders the government to increase rules and regulations over media outlets and the internet to suppress speech critical of the state, highlighting how easily the CPV can override constitutional protections of speech.

Beyond Directive 24, the CPV issued several resolutions specifically designed to regulate political speech. First, in 2016, the Central Party Committee issued Resolution 04-NQ/TW, which restricts the political speech of party members and expresses hostility to the very concept of civil society.<sup>33</sup>

Resolution 4 warns that party members calling for the development of civil society 'undermines the leadership role of the party'.<sup>34</sup> A guidance note on the implementation of the resolution states that the 'enemy and reactionary forces have stepped up activities against us', singling out 'the US and other Western countries [that] are using aid to shape [Vietnam's] law and policy' and 'providing aid to domestic "non-governmental" organizations to promote a Western model of "civil society".<sup>35</sup> Resolution 4 helps explain why, in recent years, the government has become more hostile to civil society and human rights.

Resolution 35-NQ/TW, which was issued by the Political Bureau on October 22, 2018, also restricts political speech.<sup>36</sup> Resolution 35 can be understood as a massive propaganda effort to mobilize party members and segments of the population to defend the supremacy of the CPV. Its stated aims are to strengthen 'protection of the ideological foundation of the party' and 'fight against wrong and hostile views in the new era'.<sup>37</sup> The resolution establishes that these aims are central to party-building activities and the responsibility of individual party members. Resolution 35, in creating the policy framework for state control over public discourse in the country, represents a massive effort to restrict political speech. We will discuss the implementation of this resolution in more detail in the section titled Institutions.

Two other resolutions—Resolution No. 29-NQ/TW on the Strategy to Defend the Fatherland in Cyberspace and Resolution No. 30-NQ/TW on the National Cyber Security Strategy—were issued by the Central Party Committee on July 25, 2018. Resolution 29 frames cyberspace as an area of national sovereignty that needs to be protected, while Resolution 30 outlines a broad political strategy for ensuring cybersecurity.<sup>38</sup> Both resolutions are classified and therefore not in the public domain.

The CPV has issued a number of directives and resolutions relating to political expression in recent years. Taken together, these resolutions set political agendas within which the government makes policy to regulate speech.

## **INSTITUTIONS**

The Central Propaganda Department promotes loyalty to the party and acceptance of its ideas among party members as well as the Vietnamese people.<sup>39</sup> The department heads the surveillance and censorship of speech deemed critical of the government or CPV.<sup>40</sup> Through the department, the party seeks to shape online narratives and public opinion.

The department oversees a nationwide network of brigades that manipulate online discussions and coordinate information operations.<sup>41</sup> Members of these brigades—often state employees or volunteers loyal to the state—disseminate official narratives, harass dissidents, and censor social media.<sup>42</sup>

Plan 14, issued by the Central Committee, provides guidance on how Resolution 35 should be implemented.<sup>43</sup> Key aims of the plan involve increasing 'positive information' and 'fighting against and limiting toxic information and wrongful and hostile views in communications media, especially on the internet' in order to 'defeat all plots and schemes of hostile and reactionary forces'.<sup>44</sup> The plan is comprised of six parts:

- 1. Creating and training 'ideological defense committees' (the opinion-shaping brigades) in all provinces, cities, ministries, and industries.
- 2. Amending policy on the press, publications, the internet, and social media.
- 3. Planning editorial agendas for news agencies.

- 4. Creating training programs on Marxist-Leninist thought, socialism, Ho Chi Minh's ideology, and the history of the CPV.
- 5. Assigning teachers new responsibilities to protect the ideological foundation of the party and fight against wrong and hostile views.
- 6. Protecting state secrets.

Decision 169-QD/TW, issued on Jan. 7, 2019, establishes the institutional framework for the enactment of this plan.<sup>45</sup> Decision 169 reportedly establishes committees at all administrative levels to implement Resolution 35. These committees, known as Ban Chi Đạo 35, or Committee 35s, were even assigned a role in the government's response to the Covid-19 pandemic.<sup>46</sup>

The Vietnamese military also engages in online brigading. Force 47, a group under the control of the military, was established to fight 'wrong views' online.<sup>47</sup> Col. Gen. Nguyen Trong Nghia, who is now the CPV's chief propagandist, claimed that at one point the group consisted of 10,000 members.<sup>48</sup>

Though much of the information about how these public opinion-shaping brigades operate is unknown, an investigation by The Intercept in 2018 provides some insight.<sup>49</sup> The investigation exposed the operation of E47, a secret Facebook group established at the end of 2017. E47 served several functions, including silencing criticism of the government and communist party, manipulating public opinion by spreading disinformation, and acting as a tool of state surveillance and harassment.<sup>50</sup> Strategies used to achieve these aims included compiling lists of activists and dissidents to harass, abusing Facebook's content moderation rules to have posts deleted and accounts locked, spreading disinformation, and reporting government critics to the police.<sup>51</sup>

At its height, E47 had over 3,000 members.<sup>52</sup> Many members appeared to be employed by the state and were primarily motivated by ideology. Facebook removed the group from the platform in 2021, but did not close the accounts of the group's administrators or members.<sup>53</sup>

More recently, the military-run telecommunications company Viettel released Mocha 35, an app that is used by public opinion-shaping brigades to coordinate their 16

messaging and targets.<sup>54</sup> As of June 2024, there were 79 Mocha 35 groups on Facebook with 1,325 members that share information and coordinate actions.<sup>55</sup>

These brigades are able to control messaging on social media. By flooding social media with disinformation, and by shouting down and harassing anybody who dissents from official narratives, these brigades suppress speech.

This section has described party policy and institutions on political speech. In the next section, we will outline state policies that enable the Vietnamese authorities to violate the right to free expression.

## **GOVERNMENT POLICY**

Since 2016, a raft of new policies and practices have been enacted that aim to restrict political speech. These include policies which have expanded the censorship regime in the country, granted the government legal permission to access personal data, and prevented people from accessing information that should be publicly available. In addition to these policies, the government surveils the online activity of its citizens and uses various provisions of the country's criminal code to silence dissent. Through these laws and policies, the government has silenced criticism, particularly online.

## **CENSORSHIP REGIME**

The Vietnamese government has developed an elaborate policy framework to censor the internet. The following table lists the relevant laws, and decrees that make up the censorship system, detailing the problematic aspects of these policies.

## Vietnam's censorship apparatus

Name	Year		Problematic aspects
Cybersecurity Law	2018	•	Grants the government the authority to
			regulate online content.
		•	Requires social media platforms to store
			data in Vietnam and submit user data to
			the government upon request.
Law on the Press	2016	•	Restricts who can participate in journalism.
		•	Codifies control over the media.
		•	Allows the government to regulate content
			from news outlets.
Law on Telecommunications	2023	•	Allows the government to control the
			architecture of the internet itself.

		•	Regulates licenses for telecommunications
			companies.
		•	Regulates the management of SIM cards,
			customer information, and digital services
			such as data centers and cloud computing
			services.
Law on Information	2006	•	Provides the framework for more specific
Technology			user registration processes and data
			storage rules.
		•	Provides general procedures for the
			registration of websites.
		•	Stipulates the obligations of search engines
			and regulations on the storage of personal
			information.
Decree 70	2021	•	Requires that any website that hosts
			advertisements must comply with certain
			regulations.
		•	Gives websites 24 hours to comply with a
			government demand to remove ads
			deemed illegal and to provide the
			government with information about the
			offending advertisers upon request.
Decree 53	2022	•	Provides guidance on the procedures for
			the removal of online content.
		•	Designates MPS, MIC, and Ministry of
			Defense as the authorities responsible for
			issuing takedown orders.
		•	Empowers MPS to suspend information

systems and revoke domain names.

#### Decree 147

- Orders social media platforms to store user data in Vietnam and authenticate social network user accounts with a phone number or ID number.
  - Empowers state agencies to order social media platforms to remove content.
  - Creates legal responsibility for owners of public WIFI networks if people use the network to post illegal content.

In extreme circumstances, websites deemed critical of the government are blocked. The websites of Project88, Human Rights Watch, and the BBC are all inaccessible without a VPN in Vietnam. According to a report by the MIC, Vietnam blocked over 2,705 websites in 2022, and in just the first six weeks of 2023, blocked another 529.<sup>56</sup> The Open Observatory of Network Interference estimates that in 2022, 75% of blocked websites featured content related to politics, news, or human rights.<sup>57</sup>

Instead of blocking social media platforms outright, Hanoi orders these platforms to comply with orders to restrict political speech.<sup>58</sup> Vietnamese authorities have used takedown requests to remove a huge amount of content from social media that is critical of the government or the CPV.

In February 2020, for instance, Vietnam took Facebook's local servers offline, rendering the social media platform unusable.<sup>59</sup> Access was restored seven weeks later, after Facebook agreed to comply with the government's order to 'restrict access to content which it has deemed to be illegal'.<sup>60</sup> In November 2020, the government again threatened to block Facebook if it did not comply with additional content restrictions. The Washington Post reported that, in the end, Facebook complied with these demands, 'giving the government near-total control over the platform'.<sup>61</sup>

According to the MIC, Facebook blocked or removed 8,981 posts in 2024 that, according to the Vietnamese authorities, contained false content and anti-state 20

propaganda.<sup>62</sup> That same year, at the behest of the Vietnamese government, Google censored 6,043 pieces of content and TikTok censored 971 videos.<sup>63</sup> The three companies complied with more than 90% of censorship requests made by Vietnamese authorities.<sup>64</sup> Tellingly, Google reported that 95% of the removal requests the company received from the Vietnamese government in 2022 were for content critical of the government.<sup>65</sup>

By enacting the Cybersecurity Law, the Law on the Press, the Law on Telecommunications, and the Law on Information Security, as well as Decrees 53, 70, and 147, the government has established a framework to control online content.

### CYBERSECURITY LAW

The Cybersecurity Law, enacted in 2018, grants the government the authority to regulate online content, including on platforms such as Facebook and Google.<sup>66</sup> The law requires these corporations to store user data in Vietnam and provide this data to the government upon request.

MPS officials have stated that the law was inspired by China's cybersecurity law, which was enacted in 2016.<sup>67</sup> China's law has faced harsh criticism from human rights organizations due to concerns that it has strengthened censorship, surveillance, and government control over the internet.<sup>68</sup>

From a human rights perspective, there are several problems with Vietnam's Cybersecurity Law. First, it appears that the government's motivation behind that law was in large part to suppress political dissent. Second, the law allows officials to wield unfettered authority in removing content. Third, the law grants the government the power to shut down the internet. Fourth, and finally, the law allows the government to access the personal data of social media users.

### Improper motivation for the law

The government's motivation for enacting the Cybersecurity Law is impermissible under international law. According to government documents, the law was enacted, at least in part, to prevent reactionary groups from using the internet to undermine

the state and advocate for regime change.<sup>69</sup> These documents claim that reactionaries in Vietnam use the internet to insult the leadership of the CPV, and, for this reason, the Cybersecurity Law is necessary.<sup>70</sup>

Vietnam alleges that the prevention of government criticism is essential to protect national security. But under international law, Vietnam can only restrict speech on national security grounds if doing so will protect the existence of the nation, its territorial integrity, or its political independence.<sup>71</sup> The entrenchment of a particular ideology or of a particular party are not national security interests.<sup>72</sup> Vietnam cannot invoke national security concerns to suppress political debate or criticism of the state.<sup>73</sup>

As such, the government's interest in preventing reactionary groups from using the internet to undermine the leadership of Vietnam and advocate for regime change is not a permissible justification for enacting the law. Speech criticizing, or even insulting, the government or party does not threaten national security under international law.<sup>74</sup>

## Prohibition of "offending" speech

The Cybersecurity Law grants far too much power to the government to censor online speech. Specifically, the law prohibits all online speech that falls into any of the following categories:<sup>75</sup>

- Speech that is anti-state.
- Speech that encourages people to oppose the government.
- Speech that distorts history or denies the achievements of the revolution.
- Speech that offends the nation, the national flag, the national emblem, the national anthem, leaders, notable people, and national heroes.
- Speech that is discriminatory against religious or racial groups.
- Speech that can incite riots, disrupt security, or cause public disorder.
- Speech that causes embarrassment or is slanderous of organizations, agencies, or individuals.

When content is deemed illegal by the government, the Cybersecurity Law requires social media companies to remove it upon request by the authorities within 24 hours.<sup>76</sup>

Any content determined to be illegal is subject to removal under the law, with no oversight or opportunity to appeal. This law grants government officials the unfettered authority to censor anything they deem illegal. Given the breadth of what might constitute propaganda against the state or what might, according to the government, cause public disorder, it is extremely difficult for people to determine if their speech is illegal. The use of vague language empowers government officials to act in an arbitrary manner.

#### Internet shutdowns

Article 21 of the Cybersecurity Law grants the government the power to cut off a specific geographic area from the internet.<sup>77</sup> Though internet shutdowns are not commonly carried out in Vietnam, the government has at times shut down the internet to prevent news of human rights abuses from spreading. In January 2020, for example, Vietnam shut down the internet during the police attack on Dong Tam commune, the site of a land rights dispute.<sup>78</sup>`

Internet shutdowns not only restrict expression, but also interfere with many other fundamental rights. When the internet is shut down, people are cut off from emergency services, mobile banking, and reporting on major events.<sup>79</sup>

For this reason, in their 2011 Joint Declaration on Freedom of Expression and the Internet, four UN experts declared, '[c]utting off access to the Internet, or parts of the internet, for whole populations or segments of the public can never be justified, including on public order or national security grounds'.<sup>80</sup>

### **Data protection**

The Cybersecurity Law requires internet service providers to collect user data, store it in Vietnam, and provide authorities access to it upon request. The law does not outline any procedural safeguards to protect people's privacy. With access to user data, the government may be able to more effectively target those who are willing to speak out online. We will discuss this issue in more detail in the section Privacy and anonymity.

In sum, several of the provisions contained within Vietnam's Cybersecurity Law are impermissible under international law. The motivations of the government in enacting  $^{23}$ 

the law are improper. The law grants the government far too much power in censoring speech, and the language of the law is too vague. The government's ability to shut down the internet is impermissible. And finally, the law violates privacy rights.

## LAW ON THE PRESS

The Law on the Press, enacted in 2016, outlines who can participate in journalism in the country. The law codifies the government's control over the media and allows the government to censor content from news outlets and electronic media.<sup>81</sup>

Article 9 of the law prohibits the publication of information ranging from speech that questions the legitimacy of the state to speech that "offends" the nation. Like the Cybersecurity Law, the Law on the Press contains provisions that are poorly defined and which grant the government discretion to punish the publication of material deemed problematic. Among the categories of information banned by the law are:

- Information distorting or defaming the state.
- Information that divides the Vietnamese people and the government, armed forces, or political organizations.
- Information that distorts history, negates revolutionary achievements, or insults the nation or national heroes.

Articles 31 and 33 of the law give the MIC the authority to determine which Vietnamese media organizations can publish information online. Invoking this law, the Vietnamese government has mandated the closure of numerous news outlets.<sup>82</sup>

In 2022, in response to the proliferation of news websites and journalistic activities online, the MIC issued Decision 1418/QĐ-BTTTT, which prevents non-approved sources from competing with state media organizations.<sup>83</sup> Specifically, it institutes sanctions for a range of practices, including:

- Websites that use journalistic language such as: 'daily news,' 'daily digest,' 'television,' 'tv,' 'hot news,' 'breaking news,' or 'online'.
- Media organizations that employ a disproportionate number of journalists in relation to their mission or have too many local correspondents.

• Websites that send journalists into the field to collect news and information.

Taken together, the Law on the Press and Decision 1418 give the government farreaching control over the media.

Under international law, however, restrictions on the operation of websites must be content-specific.<sup>84</sup> Further, aside from limited systems that provide journalists with privileged access to certain places or events, state systems of registration or licensing of journalists are not permissible.<sup>85</sup>

According to the CCPR, '[t]he penalization of a media outlet, publishers or journalist solely for being critical of the government or the political social system espoused by the government can never be considered to be a necessary restriction of freedom of expression'. 86 As such, Vietnam's policies that establish government control over the ability of media outlets to operate are incompatible with international law.

### LAW ON TELECOMMUNICATIONS

The Law on Telecommunications, which was enacted in 2023, regulates licenses for telecommunications companies as well as the management of SIM cards and accounts, customer information, and digital services such as data centers and cloud computing services.<sup>87</sup>

While the Law on the Press allows the MIC to control online news media, the Law on Telecommunications allows it to control the architecture of the internet itself.88 Under the law, internet resources such as IP addresses, domain names, and the country code top-level domain ('.vn') are all subject to official registration procedures.

The Vietnam National Internet Center (VNNIC) is the administrative agency responsible for internet affairs under the MIC. Through the VNNIC, the government can control almost all aspects of internet operations in Vietnam. By overseeing the administration of IP addresses and domain names, for instance, the government can limit who can access the internet and share information over cyberspace.<sup>89</sup>

Vietnamese authorities have used this power to cast doubt on international and independent news sources. For instance, VNNIC's official mouthpiece, ICT Vietnam, has said that '[v]ery often, websites in Vietnamese that have foreign domain names (.com, .org) are the source of toxic and fake news. Websites with Vietnam's domain name (.vn) are more reliable sources of news'.<sup>90</sup> In this way, the government has used its administration of internet resources to sow distrust of certain media outlets.

### LAW ON INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

The Law on Information Technology, which was enacted in 2006, helps provide the framework for user registration processes and data storage rules.<sup>91</sup> The law, along with several decrees that will be discussed below, provides the general procedures for the registration of websites, the obligations of search engines, and regulations on the storage of personal information.

Two particularly problematic aspects of the Law on Information Technology are articles 19 and 20. Article 19 mandates search engines to submit to government oversight. Under the law, companies operating search engines must exclude every search result that the government considers illegal.<sup>92</sup> Article 20 outlines the requirements for the registration and control of electronic information.<sup>93</sup> Under the law, every piece of electronic information that is accessible to the public through search engines is subject to approval by government authorities.

This level of control over search engines and electronic information is not consistent with international law. No government justification permits this level of oversight.

### RELEVANT GOVERNMENT DECREES

In addition to the laws discussed above, several decrees institute government control over social media platforms, online media sources, and activities of internet users. Decrees 70, 53, and 147 are particularly noteworthy and will be discussed below.

#### Decree 70

Decree 70/2021/ND-CP, issued in July 2021, requires that any website that hosts advertisements must comply with certain regulations.<sup>94</sup> The decree gives websites 24

hours to comply with a government demand to remove advertisements deemed illegal and to provide information about the offending advertisers upon request.<sup>95</sup> At least 15 organizations and 73 websites were fined in 2022 for violations of the decree.<sup>96</sup>

#### Decree 53

Decree 53/2022/NĐ-CP, issued on August 15, 2022, provides additional guidance on procedures for the removal of online content under the Cybersecurity Law.<sup>97</sup> According to the decree, online information can be removed if it violates 'national security, social order, or the safety, rights and legitimate interests of agencies, organizations, and individuals'98. In addition, Decree 53 empowers MPS to 'suspend information systems and revoke domain names'.<sup>99</sup>

#### Decree 147

On November 9, 2024, the Vietnamese government issued Decree 147/2024/NĐ-CP, replacing Decree 72/2013/NĐ-CP. Decree 147 grants additional control to the government over online activities. First, social media platforms operating in Vietnam must store user data in Vietnam and require users to authenticate their accounts using a Vietnamese phone number or ID number.<sup>100</sup> This user data must be provided to the MIC or MPS upon request.<sup>101</sup> Only users that have authenticated their accounts are permitted to post, comment, or livestream on social media platforms. In addition, Decree 147 orders internet providers to block users and remove content deemed illegal after a request from Vietnamese authorities.<sup>102</sup> Any social media accounts or groups that regularly post illegal content, including those based outside the country, must be blocked in Vietnam within 24 hours of a request by the government.<sup>103</sup> Finally, the decree empowers the government to hold the owners of public internet access points at hotels, restaurants, and cafes liable if people use their Wi-Fi network to post illegal content.<sup>104</sup>

Through these law and decrees, the Vietnamese government has created a legal apparatus for censoring virtual spaces. Such policies add to an existing framework of criminal and administrative penalties that punish criticism of the government.

## **CRIMINAL LAW**

The Vietnamese authorities have imposed a range of criminal sanctions on individual free speech, including detention, imprisonment, and summonses. In addition to silencing specific individuals, the possibility of criminal punishment serves to create fear and discourage citizens from expressing political opinions online.

The application of criminal law remains Vietnam's most punitive tool to punish political speech. Since 2016, the government has charged those who dare to speak out primarily under articles 117, 155, 156, 200, and 331 of the criminal code. <sup>105</sup>

### **ARTICLE 117**

Article 117 prohibits 'making, possessing, storing, or spreading information, materials, or items for the purpose of opposing the State of the Socialist Republic of Vietnam'. In past years, Article 117 was the most common charge used to prosecute activists.<sup>106</sup>

Article 117. Making, possessing, storing, or spreading information, materials, items for the purpose of opposing the State of the Socialist Republic of Vietnam

- Any person, for the purposes of opposing the State of the Socialist Republic of Vietnam, who commits any of the following acts shall face a penalty of 5-12 years' imprisonment:
  - a. Making, possessing, storing, or spreading information, materials, or items that contain distorted information about the people's government.
- 2. An extremely serious case [...] shall carry [...] 10-20 years' imprisonment.

The way Hanoi applies Article 117 is in violation of international law. Because the language is so vague, it is impossible for people to know precisely what is considered distorted information, fabricated information, or what constitutes opposing the state. Due to this, Article 117 grants the Vietnamese authorities unfettered discretion. Further, the language is not precise enough to enable an individual to know how to regulate their conduct to comply with the law.<sup>107</sup>

In 2021, four UN human rights experts stated that Article 117 is 'overly broad and appears to be aimed at silencing those who seek to exercise their human right to freely express their views and share information with others'. Two years earlier, the CCPR called on Vietnam 'as a matter of urgency' to revise vague and broadly formulated legislation including Article 117, and to end violations of the right to freedom of expression. 109

### **ARTICLE 331**

Article 331, which criminalizes criticism of the government and public figures, is now the most common political charge in Vietnam.<sup>110</sup>

Article 331. Abusing democratic freedoms to infringe upon the interests of the State, lawful rights and interests of organizations and/or citizens

- 1. Any person who abuses their freedom of speech, freedom of the press, freedom of religion, freedom of association, and other democratic freedoms to infringe upon the interests of the State [...] shall [...] face a penalty of up to 3 years' community service or 6-36 months' imprisonment.
- 2. If the offence has a negative impact on social security, order, or safety, the offender shall face a penalty of 2-7 years' imprisonment.

There are many examples that illustrate how Article 331 has been used to silence dissent. We will explore three emblematic cases, those of Le Nguyen Huong Tra, Nguyen Phuong Hang, and Dao Ba Cuong.

In 2010, Le Nguyen Huong Tra, one of the most prominent journalists in Vietnam, was charged under Article 258 of the 1999 Criminal Code (Article 331 replaced Article 258 in the current criminal code).<sup>111</sup> Tra was accused of slander for claiming that Deputy Public Security Minister Nguyen Khanh Toan provided favors to women who had romantic relations with his son.<sup>112</sup> Tra was not a political dissident and, as such, her arrest was emblematic of how this article has been used to silence people who are not anti-state.

In 2023, Nguyen Phuong Hang was charged under Article 331.<sup>113</sup> Hang, a Vietnamese influencer and businesswoman, was accused of slandering celebrities and government officials after she alleged that they had misappropriated emergency relief funds and stolen personal donations. She made these accusations on YouTube and TikTok livestreams that amassed hundreds of thousands of views.<sup>114</sup> Hang is not a human rights activist but was nevertheless convicted of abusing democratic freedoms and sentenced to nearly three years in prison.<sup>115</sup> The unusual attention paid to Hang's trial by state media appeared aimed at making an example of her.

On April 27, 2023, Dao Ba Cuong was arrested and charged under Article 331 after he attempted to seek the truth about his son, who died while in police custody. Cuong's son, Dao Ba Phi, was found dead inside his prison cell two days after his arrest for theft. The police refused to release Phi's body to the family. When a video of Cuong confronting police officers surfaced on social media, he was arrested and sentenced to two years in prison for accusing the police of causing his son's death.

While it is permissible for Vietnam to restrict speech to protect national security or uphold public order, that is not how Vietnamese authorities have used Article 331. International law makes clear that criticism of the state, government, agencies, or officials are not legitimate threats to national security. As such, the use of Article 331 to arrest dissidents cannot be justified on national security grounds. Likewise, Article 331 cannot be justified as necessary to protect public order. Protection of public order permits restrictions on expression when necessary for public welfare and social order of a state. The use of Article 331 as a catch-all charge highlights how it is not narrowly tailored to protect any other government interest, as required by international law.

#### **ARTICLE 200**

While not a crime related to expression, Vietnam has used Article 200 of the criminal code to prosecute people engaged in activism and advocacy to silence their speech. In the past three years, the government has begun bringing tax evasion charges against directors of non-governmental organizations.<sup>120</sup>

#### Article 200. Tax evasion

- Any person who commits any of the following acts of tax evasion with an amount of tax evaded between VND 100,000,000 and VND 300,000,000 [...] shall be liable to a fine of between VND 100,000,000 and VND 500,000,000 or face a penalty of 3-24 months' imprisonment.
  - a. The offence is committed against a law emorcement officer [....]
  - b. The offence is committed using a computer network [....]

Starting in 6292 And Provided against a law enforcement officer [....]

e. The offence is committed using a computer network [...] The arbitrary application of tax evasion charges has created a climate of fear surrounding policy activism that has made members of civil society organizations cautious about weighing into policy discussions. According to the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, Marta Hurtado, the chilling effect of the government's use of Article 200 against NGO leaders 'is palpable among civil society in Vietnam, and risks stifling debate on issues of importance to society as a whole'. 123

### **ARTICLES 155 AND 156**

Finally, Articles 155 and 156 are criminal defamation provisions. Article 155 criminalizes the insulting of another person. Article 156 criminalizes the spreading of false information that harms the rights or reputation of others. Both laws carry additional punishment if the target is a law enforcement officer.

While these charges are not commonly used against dissidents, they are nevertheless impermissible under international law. Civil defamation laws are an important means of addressing unwarranted reputational attacks and, for that reason, are permissible under international law. Criminal penalties for defamation, such as articles 155 and 156, however, are not. Because civil defamation suits provide sufficient protection against reputational harm, imprisonment for defamation is not an appropriate punishment under international law.<sup>124</sup>

In addition, people should not be convicted of defamation if they are telling the truth.<sup>125</sup> However, Article 155 does not distinguish between true and false statements. One can be found guilty even if the "insult" is true.

Finally, it is widely acknowledged in international law that public officials must tolerate a greater degree of criticism than private individuals. According to Abid Hussain, then-UN Special Rapporteur on freedom of opinion and expression, governments must ensure that defamation laws are not abused by public officials, because defamation laws 'should never be used to prevent criticism of government' and 'should reflect the principle that public figures are required to tolerate a greater degree of criticism than <sup>32</sup>

private citizens'. 126 Articles 155 and 156, however, impose a more severe punishment for defamation of public officials than of private citizens.

### **SUMMONS SYSTEM**

In addition to criminal charges, Vietnamese officials also issue summonses to suppress online dissent. This is a far more common and less costly method to silence criticism as compared to criminal prosecution.

The MPS has the power to summon individuals for questioning, which it uses to deter people from engaging in political speech. At times, the government summons social media users to demand they remove offending content.<sup>127</sup> The legal basis for this power is found in Article 37 of the 2015 Criminal Procedural Code and the 2015 Law on the Organization of the Investigating Agencies.<sup>128</sup>

Criminal investigation agencies, most often the Security Investigation Agency, can summon people for an official investigation relating to their speech.<sup>129</sup> In addition, the MPS Department of Cybersecurity and High-tech Crime Prevention (DCHCP) can summon residents within its jurisdiction any time an online post is deemed to violate public order or safety.<sup>130</sup> From the end of 2020 to September 2021, the DCHCP summoned over 1,800 individuals to warn them about their online activities and demanded that they delete posts deemed critical of the government.<sup>131</sup>

Project88 has observed that most political prisoners in Vietnam were summoned before they were arrested. People who have been summoned range from people such as Bui Tuan Lam for posting parody videos,<sup>132</sup> to people such as Nguyen Thuy Hanh, who managed a fund that provided support to families of political prisoners.<sup>133</sup>

In 2016, comedian Nguyen Phuc Gia Huy, also known as Dua Leo, was summoned by police after he posted a video to his YouTube channel titled "Freedom of speech is different from personal insults". <sup>134</sup> In the video, Dua Leo stated that there was no freedom of speech in Vietnam. <sup>135</sup> More recently, on August 15, 2023, Dua Leo was taken to a police station for questioning. <sup>136</sup> While in custody, police ordered him to take down several videos, that, according to the officers, spread false information. <sup>137</sup>

On July 11, 2024, Le Thi Ha, the wife of political prisoner Dang Dang Phuoc, was summoned by police, who allegedly threatened her employment if she did not stop speaking out about her husband's detention.<sup>138</sup>

Similarly, on June 19, 2024, Doan Bao Chau, a journalist who has worked extensively with the New York Times, was summoned to appear at a police station in Hanoi. Chau told Project88 that when he reported to the police station, he was interrogated for nearly 10 hours about video interviews he had made and posted on Facebook. Police accused Chau of publishing five videos that spread misinformation in violation of the Cybersecurity Law. In the videos, Chau conducted interviews with human rights lawyers, activists, journalists, and family members of political prisoners.

Summonses are an important and effective tool in the government's arsenal to suppress political speech. The practice of law enforcement summoning people has served to silence dissent and create a chilling effect on the willingness of people in Vietnam to speak critically about the government.

### VIETNAM'S CRIMINAL CODE IN LIGHT OF INTERNATIONAL LAW

Vietnam's use of the criminal code to punish protected speech violates international law. International law is highly protective of speech critical of government officials. The ability to voice dissent against the actions of the government is a fundamental right.

The Vietnamese government has not clarified a legal threshold for determining whether criminal charges will apply in any given circumstance. The government is not transparent about which topics are off-limits for social media posts. Moreover, the provisions are often too vague to allow Vietnamese people to understand what speech might subject them to criminal punishment. In using these laws to punish protected speech, Vietnam has failed to live up to its obligations under the ICCPR.<sup>143</sup>

## **FINES**

In addition to criminal sanctions, Vietnam imposes economic fines on individuals and organizations who speak critically of the government. Online media platforms, as well as ordinary users, have been subjected to fines and suspensions based on the content

they publish. Generally, fines are issued for offenses considered not serious enough to merit criminal prosecution.

Decree 14/2022/NĐ-CP, Decree 15/2020/NĐ-CP, and Decree No. 129/2021/ND-CP provide the legal basis for economic sanctions. The decrees impose fines for vaguely defined offenses, including creating and disseminating false and misleading information, and slandering or insulting the reputation of government agencies.<sup>144</sup>

Under decrees 14 and 15, prohibited acts of online expression that are subject to a fine include:145

- 'Providing and sharing fake information, or information that distorts, slanders, or insults the reputation of governmental agencies or organizations, honor, and dignity of individuals'.
- 'Providing and sharing information promoting customs, superstitions, lewdness, and debauchery, which are not suitable with national customs and traditions'.
- 'Providing and sharing fabricated information causing public confusion, inciting violence, crimes, social evils, or gambling'.
- 'Providing or sharing journalistic, literary, artistic, or published works generally
  without the consent of the intellectual property right holder or works that have
  not yet been allowed to circulate or have been banned from circulation'.
- 'Advertising and sharing information about banned goods and services'.
- 'Providing and sharing images of Vietnam's map that do not rightly reflect the national sovereignty'.
- 'Providing and sharing links to online information with prohibited content'.

Providing or sharing links to online information with prohibited content is also subject to a fine. However, what constitutes prohibited content is not defined.<sup>146</sup> As such, the sharing of any links, posts, or videos that are deemed inappropriate by either MPS or MIC is potentially subject to a fine.

In January 2022, authorities amended Decree 15 to institute larger fines on media outlets for publishing "false" information.<sup>147</sup> Decree 15 was introduced during the Covid-19 pandemic and imposed fines of 10-20 million dong (\$426-853) on people who used 35

social media to share 'false, untruthful, distorted, or slanderous information' about the country's response to the pandemic.<sup>148</sup>

According to MPS, hundreds of people who took advantage of Covid-19 to criticize the government were fined.<sup>149</sup> In total, between January and March 2020, 654 people who made Facebook posts critical of the government's response to the pandemic were forced to attend 'working sessions'.<sup>150</sup> In these sessions, people were required to state that the information they posted was false, delete the posts, and pledge not to post anything else "false" about Covid-19 or the government's response to the pandemic.<sup>151</sup> In one case, a woman from Ha Tinh province was fined for incorrectly claiming on Facebook that there were Covid-19 cases in her community.<sup>152</sup>

Official statistics suggest that the government is increasingly fining people for their online speech. A 2020 MIC report details all the fines related to speech for that year. According to the report, 65 fines imposed over the first six months of 2020, totaling approximately 1.2 billion dong (\$51,000).<sup>153</sup> In 2021 and 2022, at least 600 administrative fines were imposed totaling 6 billion dong (\$254,000).<sup>154</sup>

Fines have even been introduced for advertisers who operate online. On Dec. 30, 2021, the government issued Decree No. 129/2021/ND-CP.<sup>155</sup> Decree 129 imposes fines on online advertisers for failing to accurately report information related to cross-border advertising services to the MIC.<sup>156</sup>

In the next section, we will outline efforts by the government to violate the right to privacy of the country's citizens, another aspect of freedom of expression. We find that despite data protection laws that ostensibly uphold this right, large carveouts in the laws allow the government the unfettered discretion to obtain personal data at will.

### PRIVACY AND ANONYMITY

Vietnam's legal framework threatens the privacy and data security of people in the country. In September 2024, the National Assembly introduced draft legislation that ostensibly would provide personal data protection. But if passed, this law will nevertheless allow government officials to access user data without proper oversight.

Existing laws also threaten user privacy. The Cybersecurity Law requires internet service providers to authenticate user information upon registration and Decree 147 requires users to provide their name and phone number to use social media.<sup>157</sup>

#### PERSONAL DATA PROTECTION FRAMEWORK

The Cybersecurity Law mandates that internet service providers must store user data in Vietnam and provide this data to Vietnamese authorities upon request.<sup>158</sup>

Decree 53/2022/NĐ-CP provides guidance on how the Cybersecurity Law should be implemented. Under Decree 53, if foreign companies do not comply with the Vietnamese government's requests for user data, the government may order them to store user data—including IP addresses, usernames, and phone numbers—within Vietnam. According to a document written by the Binh Phuoc provincial party propaganda organ, among the information that must be stored in Vietnam is the personal information of users and data about family and friends of users.

The Cybersecurity Law and Decree 53 each lack procedural safeguards or oversight mechanisms. Many government actors have the power to request personal data from service providers, including ministries, government agencies, provincial people's committees, and political organizations. And yet, no adequate safeguards exist to protect the privacy of the people. As such, the Cybersecurity Law and Decree 53 mandate that telecommunications companies must provide data to the government upon request and yet do not specify procedures or oversight mechanisms to prevent misuse.

Last year, Vietnam issued legislation that purportedly would provide personal data protection. Decree 13/2023/ND-CP, which went into effect on July 1, 2023, was Vietnam's first comprehensive legislation on personal data protection. Most of the decree's provisions are in line with international standards for data privacy. However, Article 17 of the decree provides a long list of exceptions that permit the government to access personal data, including 'when there is a threat to security and national defense' and 'to prevent and fight riots and terrorism'. These broad exceptions open the door for government abuse and, for this reason, the decree does not adequately protect data.

On September 24, 2024, the government announced a new draft law on personal data protection intended to expand Decree 13. According to the MPS, the draft law intends to establish the country's legal framework for personal data protection and improve the ability of organizations and individuals in the country to protect personal data.<sup>168</sup>

Unfortunately, the new draft law has many of the same limitations as Decree 13. Article 17 of the draft law allows state agencies to access data in case of national defense and security emergencies, major disasters or dangerous epidemics, and when there is a threat to national security and defense, as well as to fight riots, terrorism, and prevent crime. Thus, this new draft law will likely do nothing to prevent the government from legally obtaining personal data on vague and ill-defined grounds.

Finally, in November 2024 the government issued Decree 147, which requires social media platforms to authenticate social media user accounts using a Vietnamese phone number or ID number.<sup>170</sup> Only users that have authenticated their accounts will be able to use social media in the country. Moreover, this user data must be provided to the MIC or MPS upon request by the government.<sup>171</sup>

### AI SURVEILLANCE OF SOCIAL MEDIA

There is evidence that Vietnam has attempted to upgrade its social media surveillance capabilities by using AI technology. On Feb. 27, 2024, the Ho Chi Minh City Department of Information and Communications began using SocialBeat, an AI-powered social listening software, to monitor social media platforms.<sup>172</sup> In addition to Ho Chi Minh City, the government of Bac Kan province is also using the technology to monitor social media use in the province.<sup>173</sup>

SocialBeat can be used to trawl social media platforms for data and reportedly can collect and analyze more than two billion posts a day.<sup>174</sup> According to a Ho Chi Minh City official, the software will be used to help city officials identify 'hostile forces who are taking advantage of social networks and internet platforms to incite protests against the government'.<sup>175</sup>

Likewise, according to the Bac Kan provincial government, SocialBeat is used to monitor and observe associations, groups, and individuals on social media in order to detect information hostile to the government so the users can be identified and the posts can be 'handled'. <sup>176</sup> In 2024, the Bac Kan provincial government used SocialBeat to monitor negative comments about the administration of a local hospital, a local mining project, and to help direct state media to refute arguments seen on social media in the aftermath of Typhoon Yagi. <sup>177</sup> Thus far, no oversight mechanisms or limits on the government's use of SocialBeat have been announced.

Reputa, a similar tool, was developed by the military-owned conglomerate Viettel.<sup>178</sup> Like SocialBeat, Reputa is a social listening tool that tracks news stories shared over social media, including popular sentiments, the slant of news articles, and comments about news events.<sup>179</sup> The Hau Giang provincial government has reportedly used Reputa to measure how the province has been portrayed on social media.<sup>180</sup>

A third program, VnSocial, was developed by the Vietnam Posts and Telecommunications Group (VNPT), which is owned by the Vietnamese government. Like SocialBeat and Reputa, VnSocial is used by local governments in Vietnam to help monitor conversations and trends on social media. According to its website, VnSocial helps government organizations keep tabs on discussions of sensitive topics and receive warnings of suspicious behavior on social media. Thus far, it has been adopted by 39 provinces and cities across Vietnam.

VnSocial system deployed in Ba Ria-Vung Tau<sup>185</sup>



In sum, the Vietnamese government has deployed AI-powered social listening software to monitor and identify people voicing critical opinions of the government on social media.

#### THE RIGHT TO PRIVACY UNDER INTERNATIONAL LAW

Vietnam has an obligation to respect and protect the privacy rights of its citizens. The ability of the government to collect large amounts of user data creates the possibility of mass surveillance, which constitutes an interference in privacy.

The lack of effective safeguards against abuse in Vietnam is enough to render these data collection regimes impermissible. According to then-UN Special Rapporteur Frank La Rue, '[s]tates should ensure the existence of domestic legislation that prohibits unlawful and arbitrary interference and attacks on privacy'. In Vietnam, no safeguards exist to prevent government misconduct. And, in the absence of safeguards, Vietnam's data collection regime violates international law.

In the next section of the report, we will discuss the status of access to governmental information in Vietnam. The Vietnamese government operates in an opaque, nontransparent manner and, for this reason, it is difficult for citizens to obtain information on a multitude of topics.

### **ACCESS TO INFORMATION**

Vietnamese law purports to protect the people's right to access information held by public bodies. Lofty principles espoused in the country's constitution guarantee that this right is far reaching and circumscribed by only narrow and necessary exceptions. Article 25 of the constitution states that citizens have the right to access information.<sup>189</sup>

The right to seek and receive information is an essential aspect of the right to freedom of expression. Under Article 19 of the ICCPR, Vietnam must guarantee the right to seek, receive and impart information. This right includes access to records held by a public body that are of public interest. As UN Special Rapporteur David Kaye stated:

Public authorities act as representatives of the public, fulfilling a public good; therefore, in principle, their decisions and actions should be transparent. A culture of secrecy is acceptable only in very exceptional cases.... There is consequently a strong public interest in the disclosure of ... information.<sup>191</sup>

This right is ostensibly given effect by the Law on Access to Information.<sup>192</sup> In practice, however, an expansive legal framework has been enacted to prevent access to information of public interest on a broad range of topics.

Article 6 of the Law on Access to Information outlines information that citizens do not have the right to access, including information classified as state secrets; information with important content relating to science and technology; information that if made public could harm the interests of the state; information that could harm the life, liberty, or property of others; work secrets; information on internal meetings of state agencies; and documents drafted by state agencies for their internal affairs.<sup>193</sup>

The State Secrets Protection Law, enacted in 2018, further restricts what information citizens are allowed to access. Article 7 creates blanket provisions that render large swaths of information of legitimate public interest off limits, including information about politics, the policies of the CPV and the government, and the activities of the Central Party Committee, Politburo, and the Secretariat.<sup>194</sup>

Vietnamese law restricts access to information across a wide range of topics. The CCPR, however, has clarified that it is not permissible under international law for a state to invoke national security interests 'to suppress or withhold from the public information of legitimate public interest that does not harm national security or to prosecute journalists, researchers, environmental activists, human rights defenders, or others, for having disseminated such information'. As such, the Law on Access to Information and the State Secrets Law likely go beyond what is permissible under international law.

## CONCLUSION

While research suggests that Vietnam had a higher degree of tolerance for political speech since the advent of the internet in the 1990s, this trend has not continued until the present day.

Since 2016, a raft of new policies and practices have been enacted that aim to further restrict political speech. These include laws which have expanded the censorship regime in the country, including the Cybersecurity Law, the Law on the Press, the Law on Telecommunications, and the Law on Information Technology, as well as numerous implementing decrees. In addition, several laws have been introduced which together have deprived the Vietnamese people of privacy online, including a draft law on data protection introduced in September 2024, and Decree 147, which was issued in November 2024. Finally, while the country's legal framework for access to information was created by the Law on Access to Information, contradictory policies such as the Law on Protection of State Secrets prevent the public from obtaining much information that should be publicly available.

Such policies have been enacted to restrict political speech by expanding the country's censorship apparatus, granting the government legal permission to access user data, and preventing the Vietnamese people from accessing information. These policies add to an existing framework of criminal and administrative penalties that punish criticism of the government. Together, these restrictions have created a legal apparatus that severely limits people's ability to speak out or advocate for changes in government policy.

The result of this massive effort to restrict political speech is that people are afraid to speak out. This fear extends from ordinary citizens to NGO leaders and even government and CPV officials. And no oversight exists to ensure that the government complies with international human rights standards.

But the Vietnamese people have the right to voice their opinions and access information free from censorship, surveillance, and harassment. Human rights law on this matter is clear: restrictions on expression are impermissible if they are designed to entrench a particular ideology or political party.<sup>196</sup>

## RECOMMENDATIONS

In light of the analysis presented above, Project88 offers the following recommendations to the **Vietnamese government**:

- Release all political prisoners and commit to a moratorium on arrests for expression.
- Repeal Directive 24 and stop issuing policies that violate human rights.
- Ensure that civil society can engage in policy advocacy free from the threat of intimidation, harassment, and reprisal.
- Halt the misuse of tax evasion charges under Article 200 of the criminal code.
- Repeal or amend Articles 117 and 331 of the criminal code, the Law on the Press, the Law on Telecommunications, Decree 147, the Cybersecurity Law, and all other laws that the government uses to censor information and criminalize dissent.
- Amend the Law on Access to Information and the Law on Protection of State Secrets to ensure they are in line with international standards.
- Stop all efforts to monitor the Vietnamese people with AI technology.
- Do not remove online content that is merely critical of the government or CPV.
- Develop and implement training programs to improve the knowledge of government officers at all levels about the right to freedom of expression.

Project88 offers the following recommendations to **telecommunications companies** and social media platforms:

- Articulate clear, accessible, and easily understandable policies governing expression on your platform. All content rules must be available in Vietnamese.
- Ensure that decisions on content moderation are made by people who speak Vietnamese and have an understanding of the national context.
- Put in place internal complaint and dispute resolution mechanisms, including for the wrongful removal of content.

 Publish comprehensive transparency reports that include detailed information on content removal requests received and acted upon. Provide additional information on appeals processes, including the number of appeals received and their outcomes.

Project88 offers the following recommendations to the **United States**—given the warrantless eavesdropping program of US intelligence agencies and the potential TikTok ban—to avoid any hypocrisy when the US criticizes Vietnamese human rights:

- The Supreme Court should grant an emergency injunction to block the Protecting Americans from Foreign Adversary Controlled Applications Act from banning TikTok on January 19, 2025.
- Ensure that any interference with the right to privacy, including surveillance of the public, complies with international human rights law.
- Adopt and enforce, through independent and impartial authorities, data privacy legislation that complies with international human rights law.
- Take immediate measures to effectively increase the transparency of the use of surveillance technologies.
- Ensure that victims of human rights violations and abuses linked to the use of surveillance systems have access to effective remedies.

And finally, Project88 offers the following recommendations to **France and Australia**, who each recently upgraded their relations with Vietnam to a Comprehensive Strategic Partnership:

- In its troubling prosecution of Telegram CEO Pavel Durov, France must strictly adhere to the rule of law and procedural safeguards, as well as human rights standards and transparency.
- Australia must not reintroduce the Communications Legislation Amendment (Combatting Misinformation and Disinformation) Bill 2024, which threatens to grant Australian officials the authority to censor digital platforms in the country.

# REFERENCES

1 Peter Zinoman (2011). Nhan Van-Giai Pham and Vietnamese "Reform Communism" in the 1950s: A Revisionist Interpretation. Journal of Cold War Studies. 13 (1): 66.

2 Kerkvliet, Benedict J. Tria (2019). Speaking Out in Vietnam. Cornell University Press. p.6

3 Legal Initiatives for Vietnam (2024, September 19). Censorship in Vietnam: state media under unprecedented attack.

4 Hồ, Đức Phớc (2024, Nov. 9). Nghị Định Quản lý, cung cấp, sử dụng dịch vụ internet và thông tin trên mạng, No. 147/2024/NĐ-CP, Art. 23. Cổng Thông Tin Điện Tử Chính Phủ. Retrieved Nov. 22, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/20241122100058/https://datafiles.chinhphu.vn/cpp/files/vbpq/2024/11/147-nd.signed.pdf">https://web.archive.org/web/20241122100058/https://datafiles.chinhphu.vn/cpp/files/vbpq/2024/11/147-nd.signed.pdf</a>

<sup>5</sup> Human Rights Committee (2011, Sept. 12). General Comment No. 34. UN Doc. CCPR/C/GC/34. para. 11. Retrieved Feb. 16, 2024, from

https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/hrc/docs/gc34.pdf

<sup>6</sup> Human Rights Committee (2011, Sept. 12). General Comment No. 34. UN Doc. CCPR/C/GC/34. para. 11. Retrieved Feb. 16, 2024, from

https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/hrc/docs/gc34.pdf

<sup>7</sup> Human Rights Committee (2011, Sept. 12). General Comment No. 34. UN Doc. CCPR/C/GC/34. paras. 2-4. Retrieved Feb. 16, 2024, from

https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/hrc/docs/gc34.pdf

<sup>8</sup> Human Rights Committee (2011, Sept. 12). General Comment No. 34. UN Doc. CCPR/C/GC/34. paras. 2-4. Retrieved Feb. 16, 2024, from

https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/hrc/docs/gc34.pdf

<sup>9</sup> Aduayom et al. v. Togo (1996). Human Rights Committee. Comm. Nos. 422–424/1990. U.N. Doc. CCPR/C/51/D/422/1990. para. 7.4. Retrieved Feb. 16, 2024, from

https://web.archive.org/web/20240708161446/https://juris.ohchr.org/casedetails/531/en-US

Park v. Republic of Korea (1998). Human Rights Committee Comm. No. 328.1995. U.N. Doc. CCPR/C/64/D/628/1995 para. 10.3 Retrieved July 5, 2024, from

https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://juris.ohchr.org/casedetails/810/en-US

Human Rights Committee (1979). 128th mtg. (statement by Mr. Tomuschat). UN Doc. CCPR/C/SR.128. para. 20. Retrieved Feb. 16, 2024, from

https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://tbinternet.ohchr.org/\_layouts/15/TreatyBodyExternal/Download.aspx?symbolno=CCPR%2FC%2FSR.128&Lang=en

<sup>10</sup> Human Rights Committee (1996, July 12) General Comment No. 25. UN Doc. CCPR/C/21/Rev.1/Add/7. para. 25. Retrieved July 5, 2024, from

https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://tbinternet.ohchr.org/\_layouts/15/treatybodyexternal/Download.as px?symbolno=CCPR%2FC%2F21%2FRev.1%2FAdd.7&Lang=en

<sup>11</sup> Human Rights Committee (2011, Sept. 12). General Comment No. 34. UN Doc. CCPR/C/GC/34. para. 23. Retrieved Feb. 16, 2024, from

https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/hrc/docs/gc34.pdf

Mukong v. Cameroon (1994). Human Rights Committee. Comm. No. 458/1991. U.N. Doc. CCPR/C/51/D/458/1991. paras. 9.6–9.7. Retrieved Feb. 16, 2024, from https://web.archive.org/web/20240930103503/https://documents.un.org/doc/undoc/der/g94/18

 $\frac{https://web.archive.org/web/20240930103503/https://documents.un.org/doc/undoc/der/g94/185/01/img/g9418501.pdf}{} \\$ 

<sup>12</sup> See Human Rights Council (2012, June 29). Resolution 20: The Promotion, Protection and Enjoyment of Human Rights on the Internet. U.N. Doc. A/HRC/20/L.13. para. 1. Retrieved July 5, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/0/https://undocs.org/Home/Mobile?FinalSymbol=A%2FHRC%2F20%2FL.13">https://web.archive.org/web/0/https://undocs.org/Home/Mobile?FinalSymbol=A%2FHRC%2F20%2FL.13</a> &Language=E&DeviceType=Desktop&LangRequested=False

Frank La Rue, Special Rapporteur on the Promotion and Protection of the Right to Freedom and Expression (2011, May 16). Report of the Special Rapporteur on the Promotion and Protection of the Right to Freedom of Opinion and Expression. U.N. Doc A/HRC/17/27. para. 21. Retrieved July 5, 2024, from

https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://undocs.org/Home/Mobile?FinalSymbol=A%2FHRC%2F17%2F27&Language=E&DeviceType=Desktop&LangReguested=False

<sup>13</sup> Human Rights Committee (2011, Sept. 12). General Comment No. 34. UN Doc. CCPR/C/GC/34. para. 12. Retrieved Feb. 16, 2024, from

https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/hrc/docs/gc34.pdf

<sup>14</sup> Human Rights Committee (2011, Sept. 12). General Comment No. 34. UN Doc. CCPR/C/GC/34. para. 44. Retrieved Feb. 16, 2024, from

https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/hrc/docs/gc34.pdf

<sup>15</sup> Human Rights Committee (2011, Sept. 12). General Comment No. 34. UN Doc. CCPR/C/GC/34. para. 43. Retrieved Feb. 16, 2024, from

https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/hrc/docs/gc34.pdf

Human Rights Committee (2005, Aug. 9). Concluding Observations on the Syrian Arab Republic. UN Doc. CCPR/CO/84/SYR. para. 13. Retrieved July 5, 2024, from

 $\frac{https://web.archive.org/web/20240930103741/https://undocs.org/Home/Mobile?FinalSymbol=CCPR%2FCO%2F84%2FSYR\&Language=E\&DeviceType=Desktop\&LangRequested=FalseCO%2F84%2FSYR&Language=E\&DeviceType=Desktop&LangRequested=FalseCO%2F84%2FSYR&Language=E\&DeviceType=Desktop&LangRequested=FalseCO%2F84%2FSYR&Language=E\&DeviceType=Desktop&LangRequested=FalseCO%2F84%2FSYR&Language=E\&DeviceType=Desktop&LangRequested=FalseCO%2F84%2FSYR&Language=E\&DeviceType=Desktop&LangRequested=FalseCO%2F84%2FSYR&Language=E\&DeviceType=Desktop&Language=E\&DeviceType=Deskt$ 

<sup>16</sup> Human Rights Committee (2011, Sept. 12). General Comment No. 34. UN Doc. CCPR/C/GC/34. para. 12. Retrieved Feb. 16, 2024, from

https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/hrc/docs/gc34.pdf

<sup>17</sup> Frank La Rue, Special Rapporteur on the Promotion and Protection of the Right to Freedom of Opinion and Expression (2011, Aug. 10). Report of the Special Rapporteur on the Promotion and Protection of the Right to Freedom of Opinion and Expression, transmitted by Note of the Secretary-General. U.N. Doc. A/66/290. para. 13. Retrieved July 5, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://undocs.org/Home/Mobile?FinalSymbol=A%2F66%2F290&Language=E&DeviceType=Desktop&LangRequested=False">https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://undocs.org/Home/Mobile?FinalSymbol=A%2F66%2F290&Language=E&DeviceType=Desktop&LangRequested=False</a>

<sup>18</sup> Frank La Rue, Special Rapporteur on the Promotion and Protection of the Right to Freedom and Expression (2011, May 16). *Report of the Special Rapporteur on the Promotion and Protection of the Right to Freedom of Opinion and Expression*. U.N. Doc A/HRC/17/27. para. 62. Retrieved July 5, 2024, from

https://web.archive.org/web/20230731040940/https://undocs.org/Home/Mobile?FinalSymbol=A%2FHR C%2F17%2F27&Language=E&DeviceType=Desktop&LangRequested=False

<sup>19</sup> Kiss, Alexandre Charles (1981). Permissible Limitations on Rights. In Louis Henkin (ed.), The International Bill of Rights: The Covenant on Civil and Political Rights. Columbia University Press. p.304

<sup>20</sup> Human Rights Committee (2011, Sept. 12). General Comment No. 34. UN Doc. CCPR/C/GC/34. para. 25. Retrieved Feb. 16, 2024, from

https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/hrc/docs/gc34.pdf

<sup>22</sup> Human Rights Committee (2011, Sept. 12). General Comment No. 34. UN Doc. CCPR/C/GC/34. para. 25. Retrieved Feb. 16, 2024, from

https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/hrc/docs/gc34.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, Article 19(2).

<sup>23</sup> Human Rights Committee (2011, Sept. 12). General Comment No. 34. UN Doc. CCPR/C/GC/34. para. 25. Retrieved Feb. 16, 2024, from

https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/hrc/docs/gc34.pdf

<sup>24</sup> Human Rights Committee (2011, Sept. 12). General Comment No. 34. UN Doc. CCPR/C/GC/34. para. 22. Retrieved Feb. 16, 2024, from

https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/hrc/docs/gc34.pdf

The Siracusa Principles on the Limitation and Derogation of Provisions in the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (1984, Sept. 28). UN Doc. E/CN.4/1984/4. para. I(A)(6). Retrieved Feb. 16, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/20240921151653/https://www.icj.org/wp-content/uploads/1984/07/Siracusa-principles-ICCPR-legal-submission-1985-eng.pdf">https://www.icj.org/wp-content/uploads/1984/07/Siracusa-principles-ICCPR-legal-submission-1985-eng.pdf</a>

<sup>25</sup> Nguyễn, Sinh Hùng (2013, Nov. 28). Hiến Pháp Nước Cộng Hoà Xã Hội Chủ Nghĩa Việt Nam, Article 25. *Thư Viện Pháp Luật*. Retrieved Feb. 17, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Bo-may-hanh-chinh/Hien-phap-nam-2013-215627.aspx">https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Bo-may-hanh-chinh/Hien-phap-nam-2013-215627.aspx</a>

<sup>26</sup> Nguyễn, Sinh Hùng (2013, Nov. 28). Hiến Pháp Nước Cộng Hoà Xã Hội Chủ Nghĩa Việt Nam, Article 14(2). *Thư Viện Pháp Luật*. Retrieved Feb. 17, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Bo-may-hanh-chinh/Hien-phap-nam-2013-215627.aspx">https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Bo-may-hanh-chinh/Hien-phap-nam-2013-215627.aspx</a>

<sup>27</sup> Nguyễn, Sinh Hùng (2013, Nov. 28). Hiến Pháp Nước Cộng Hoà Xã Hội Chủ Nghĩa Việt Nam, Article 15. *Thư Viện Pháp Luật*. Retrieved Feb. 17, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Bo-may-hanh-chinh/Hien-phap-nam-2013-215627.aspx">https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Bo-may-hanh-chinh/Hien-phap-nam-2013-215627.aspx</a>

<sup>28</sup> Thayer, Carlyle A. (2008, Dec. 3). One Party Rule and the Challenge of Political Civil Society in Vietnam. Presentation to Seminar of the Like-Minded Donor Countries, Royal Norwegian Embassy, Hanoi. p.3. Retrieved Feb. 19, 2024, from <a href="https://muse.ihu.edu/article/265199">https://muse.ihu.edu/article/265199</a>

<sup>29</sup> Nguyễn, Sinh Hùng (2013, Nov. 28). Hiến Pháp Nước Cộng Hoà Xã Hội Chủ Nghĩa Việt Nam, Article 4. *Thư Viện Pháp Luật*. Retrieved Feb. 17, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Bo-may-hanh-chinh/Hien-phap-nam-2013-215627.aspx">https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Bo-may-hanh-chinh/Hien-phap-nam-2013-215627.aspx</a>

<sup>30</sup> London, Jonathan (2023). The Communist Party of Vietnam: Consolidating Market-Leninism. In London, Jonathan (ed.). Routledge Handbook of Contemporary Vietnam (1st ed., pp. 21–47). Routledge. <a href="https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315762302-3">https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315762302-3</a>

- <sup>31</sup> Thayer, Carlyle A. (2021, Feb. 4). Vietnam's 13th National Party Congress: Exceptional and Unprecedented. Australian Institute of International Affairs. Retrieved Feb. 19, 2024, from <a href="https://www.internationalaffairs.org.au/australianoutlook/vietnams-thirteenthnational-party-congress-exceptional-and-unprecedented/">https://www.internationalaffairs.org.au/australianoutlook/vietnams-thirteenthnational-party-congress-exceptional-and-unprecedented/</a>
- <sup>32</sup> Swanton, Ben & Altman-Lupu, Michael (2024, March 1). Vietnam's leaders declare war on human rights as a matter of official policy: An analysis of secret Directive 24. Project88. <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://the88project.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/02/D24-report-final.pdf">https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://the88project.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/02/D24-report-final.pdf</a>
- <sup>33</sup> See Swanton, Ben (2023). Weaponizing the law to prosecute the Vietnam Four. Project88. https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://the88project.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/04/Weaponizing-the-law-report-Project-88-ENG.pdf
- <sup>34</sup> See Swanton, Ben (2023). Weaponizing the law to prosecute the Vietnam Four. Project88. https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://the88project.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/04/Weaponizing-the-law-report-Project-88-ENG.pdf
- <sup>35</sup> See Swanton, Ben (2023). Weaponizing the law to prosecute the Vietnam Four. Project88. https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://the88project.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/04/Weaponizing-the-law-report-Project-88-ENG.pdf
- <sup>36</sup> Tăng cường bảo vệ nền tảng tư tưởng của Đảng trong tình hình mới (2018, Dec. 17). *Cổng Thông tin* Điện tử Bộ Tài Chính. Retrieved July 22, 2024, from <a href="https://archive.is/KjDPi">https://archive.is/KjDPi</a>

Nguyễn, Ngọc Cơ (2021, Nov. 12). Mỗi đảng viên phải có trách nhiệm bảo vệ nền tảng tư tưởng của Đảng. Báo Điện Tử Đảng Cộng Sản Việt Nam. Retrieved July 22, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://dangcongsan.vn/bao-ve-nen-tang-tu-tuong-cua-dang/moi-dang-vien-phai-co-trach-nhiem-bao-ve-nen-tang-tu-tuong-cua-dang-596992.html">https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://dangcongsan.vn/bao-ve-nen-tang-tu-tuong-cua-dang-596992.html</a>

<sup>37</sup> Tăng cường bảo vệ nền tảng tư tưởng của Đảng trong tình hình mới (2018, Dec. 17). *Cổng Thông tin* Điện tử Bộ Tài Chính. Retrieved July 22, 2024, from <a href="https://archive.is/KjDPi">https://archive.is/KjDPi</a>

Nguyễn, Ngọc Cơ (2021, Nov. 12). Mỗi đảng viên phải có trách nhiệm bảo vệ nền tảng tư tưởng của Đảng. Báo Điện Tử Đảng Cộng Sản Việt Nam. Retrieved July 22, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://dangcongsan.vn/bao-ve-nen-tang-tu-tuong-cua-dang/moi-dang-vien-phai-co-trach-nhiem-bao-ve-nen-tang-tu-tuong-cua-dang-596992.html">https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://dangcongsan.vn/bao-ve-nen-tang-tu-tuong-cua-dang-596992.html</a>

<sup>38</sup> Quang Sang (2023, Aug. 24), Đảng ủy Quân sự Thành phố Hồ Chí Minh: Sơ kết Nghị quyết 29 của Bộ Chính trị về Chiến lược bảo vệ Tổ quốc trên không gian mạng. *Báo Quân Khu 7 Online*. Retrieved Dec. 3, from

https://web.archive.org/web/20241203131511/https://baoquankhu7.vn/(X(1)S(2onssejsk2feazlg4hjmlk0t))/
ExtAppCommon/Home\_V2/ViewDetailPost?idPost=34432&idLoaiTin=344&AspxAutoDetectCookieSup
port=1

Mạnh Hùng (2023, Aug. 25). Chủ động ứng phó với các thách thức từ không gian mạng. *Báo Điện Tử* Đảng Cộng Sản Việt Nam. Retrieved Dec. 3, from

https://web.archive.org/web/20241203130516/https://dangcongsan.vn/lanh-dao-dang-nha-nuoc/chudong-ung-pho-voi-cac-thach-thuc-tu-khong-gian-mang-645081.html

- <sup>39</sup> London, Jonathan (2023). The Communist Party of Vietnam: Consolidating Market-Leninism. In London, Jonathan (ed.). Routledge Handbook of Contemporary Vietnam (1st ed., pp. 21–47). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315762302-3
- <sup>40</sup> London, Jonathan (2023). The Communist Party of Vietnam: Consolidating Market-Leninism. In London, Jonathan (ed.). Routledge Handbook of Contemporary Vietnam (1st ed., pp. 21–47). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315762302-3
- <sup>41</sup> Dien Nguyen An Luong (2021). How The Vietnamese State Uses Cyber Troops to Shape Online Discourse. SEAS Yusof Ishak Institute. 2021:22.
- <sup>42</sup> Dien Nguyen An Luong (2021). How The Vietnamese State Uses Cyber Troops to Shape Online Discourse. SEAS Yusof Ishak Institute. 2021;22.
- <sup>43</sup> Trần, Quốc Vượng (2019, March 25). Kế hoạch của Ban Bi thư thực hiện Nghị quyết 35-NQ/TW của Bộ Chính trị khóa XII về tăng cường bảo vệ nền tảng tư tưởng của Đảng, đấu tranh phản bác các quan điểm sai trái, thù địch trong tỉnh hình mới, No. 14-KH/TW. *Tỉnh Uỷ Bình Thuận*. Retrieved Aug. 01, 2024, from

https://web.archive.org/web/20240801144339/https://danguykhoibinhthuan.vn/upload/files/So%20825%20BSTU-2859.pdf

- <sup>44</sup> Tăng cường bảo vệ nền tảng tư tưởng của Đảng trong tình hình mới (2018, Dec. 17). *Cổng Thông Tin* Điện Tử Bộ Tài Chính. Retrieved July 31, 2024, from <a href="https://archive.is/KjDPi">https://archive.is/KjDPi</a>
- <sup>45</sup> Decision 169-QD/TW although is not in the public domain, is mentioned in some sub-national documents of plans to implement Resolution 35 (Committee 35).

Phạm, Thanh Giang (2022). Chủ Nghĩa Xã Hội- Lý Luận Và Thực Tiễn, Xây Dựng Lực Lượng Nòng Cốt Trong Đấu Tranh Ngăn Chặn Các Quan Điểm Sai Trái, Thù Địch Trong Tình Hình Mới (pp. 51–57). Diễn Đàn Học Thuật Và Đấu Tranh Tư Tưởng.

 $\frac{\text{https://web.archive.org/web/20241210020450/http://113.165.166.110:81/bitstream/DL\_134679/54515/1/CVv5195022022051.pdf}{\text{https://web.archive.org/web/20241210020450/http://113.165.166.110:81/bitstream/DL\_134679/54515/1/CVv5195022022051.pdf}{\text{https://web.archive.org/web/20241210020450/http://113.165.166.110:81/bitstream/DL\_134679/54515/1/CVv5195022022051.pdf}{\text{https://web.archive.org/web/20241210020450/http://113.165.166.110:81/bitstream/DL\_134679/54515/1/CVv5195022022051.pdf}{\text{https://web.archive.org/web/20241210020450/http://113.165.166.110:81/bitstream/DL\_134679/54515/1/CVv5195022022051.pdf}{\text{https://web.archive.org/web/20241210020450/http://web.archive.org/web/20241210020450/http://web.archive.org/web/20241210020450/http://web.archive.org/web/20241210020450/http://web/archive.org/web/20241210020450/http://web/archive.org/web/20241210020450/http://web/archive.org/web/20241210020450/http://web/archive.org/web/20241210020450/http://web/archive.org/web/20241210020450/http://web/archive.org/web/20241210020450/http://web/archive.org/web/20241210020450/http://web/archive.org/web/20241210020450/http://web/archive.org/web/20241210020450/http://web/archive.org/web/20241210020450/http://web/archive.org/web/arc$ 

46 Thường vụ Quân ủy Trung ương ra Chỉ thị về tăng cường phòng, chống dịch COVID-19 (2020, March
21). Báo Điện Tử Chính Phủ. Retrieved July 22, 2024, from

https://web.archive.org/web/20240411132906/https://baochinhphu.vn/thuong-vu-quan-uy-trung-uong-ra-chi-thi-ve-tang-cuong-phong-chong-dich-covid-19-102269902.htm

- <sup>47</sup> Mai Hoa (2017, Dec. 25). Hơn 10.000 người trong 'Lực lượng 47' đấu tranh trên mạng. *Tuổi Trẻ Online*. Retrieved July 22, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://tuoitre.vn/hon-10-000-nguoi-trong-luc-luong-47-dau-tranh-tren-mang-20171225150602912.htm">https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://tuoitre.vn/hon-10-000-nguoi-trong-luc-luong-47-dau-tranh-tren-mang-20171225150602912.htm</a>
- <sup>48</sup> Mai Hoa (2017, Dec. 25). Hơn 10.000 người trong 'Lực lượng 47' đấu tranh trên mạng. *Tuổi Trẻ Online*. Retrieved July 22, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://tuoitre.vn/hon-10-000-nguoi-trong-luc-luong-47-dau-tranh-tren-mang-20171225150602912.htm">https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://tuoitre.vn/hon-10-000-nguoi-trong-luc-luong-47-dau-tranh-tren-mang-20171225150602912.htm</a>

Tiểu Sử Đồng Chí Nguyễn Trọng Nghĩa (2024, May 20). *Xây Dựng Chính Sách*. Retrieved Dec. 12, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://xaydungchinhsach.chinhphu.vn/tieu-su-dong-chi-nguyen-trong-nghia-truong-ban-tuyen-giao-trung-uong-119240512223218611.htm">https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://xaydungchinhsach.chinhphu.vn/tieu-su-dong-chi-nguyen-trong-nghia-truong-ban-tuyen-giao-trung-uong-119240512223218611.htm</a>

- <sup>49</sup> Biddle, Sam (2020, Dec. 21). Facebook lets Vietnam's cyberarmy target dissidents, rejecting a celebrity's plea. *The Intercept*. Retrieved July 5, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://theintercept.com/2020/12/21/facebook-vietnam-censorship/">https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://theintercept.com/2020/12/21/facebook-vietnam-censorship/</a>
- <sup>50</sup> Biddle, Sam (2020, Dec. 21). Facebook lets Vietnam's cyberarmy target dissidents, rejecting a celebrity's plea. *The Intercept*. Retrieved July 5, 2024, from

 $\underline{https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://theintercept.com/2020/12/21/facebook-vietnam-censorship/archive.org/web/2/https://theintercept.com/2020/12/21/facebook-vietnam-censorship/archive.org/web/2/https://theintercept.com/2020/12/21/facebook-vietnam-censorship/archive.org/web/2/https://theintercept.com/2020/12/21/facebook-vietnam-censorship/archive.org/web/2/https://theintercept.com/2020/12/21/facebook-vietnam-censorship/archive.org/web/2/https://theintercept.com/2020/12/21/facebook-vietnam-censorship/archive.org/web/2/https://theintercept.com/2020/12/21/facebook-vietnam-censorship/archive.org/web/2/https://theintercept.com/2020/12/21/facebook-vietnam-censorship/archive.org/web/2/https://theintercept.com/2020/12/21/facebook-vietnam-censorship/archive.org/web/2/https://theintercept.com/2020/12/21/facebook-vietnam-censorship/archive.org/web/2/https://theintercept.com/2020/12/21/facebook-vietnam-censorship/archive.org/web/2/https://theintercept.com/2020/12/21/facebook-vietnam-censorship/archive.org/web/2/https://theintercept.com/2020/12/21/facebook-vietnam-censorship/archive.org/web/2/https://theintercept.com/2020/12/21/facebook-vietnam-censorship/archive.org/web/2/https://theintercept.com/2020/12/21/facebook-vietnam-censorship/archive.org/web/2/https://theintercept.com/2020/12/21/facebook-vietnam-censorship/archive.org/web/2/https://theintercept.com/2020/12/21/facebook-vietnam-censorship/archive.org/web/2/https://theintercept.com/2020/12/21/facebook-vietnam-censorship/archive.org/web/2/https://theintercept.com/2020/12/21/facebook-vietnam-censorship/archive.org/web/2/https://theintercept.com/2020/12/21/facebook-vietnam-censorship/archive.org/web/2/https://theintercept.com/2020/12/21/facebook-vietnam-censorship/archive.org/web/2/https://theintercept.com/2020/12/21/facebook-vietnam-censorship/archive.org/web/2/https://theintercept.com/2020/12/21/facebook-vietnam-censorship/archive.org/web/2/https://theintercept.com/2020/12/21/facebook-vietnam-censorship/archive.org/web/2/https://theintercept.com/2020/12/21/facebook$ 

<sup>51</sup> Biddle, Sam (2020, Dec. 21). Facebook lets Vietnam's cyberarmy target dissidents, rejecting a celebrity's plea. *The Intercept*. Retrieved July 5, 2024, from

https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://theintercept.com/2020/12/21/facebook-vietnam-censorship/

- <sup>52</sup> Biddle, Sam (2020, Dec. 21). Facebook lets Vietnam's cyberarmy target dissidents, rejecting a celebrity's plea. *The Intercept*. Retrieved July 5, 2024, from
- https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://theintercept.com/2020/12/21/facebook-vietnam-censorship/
- <sup>53</sup> Culliford, Elizabeth & Potkin, Fanny (2021, Sept. 17). Exclusive: Facebook targets harmful real petworks, using playbook against fakes. *Reuters*. Retrieved July 5, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://www.reuters.com/technology/exclusive-facebook-target-harmful-coordination-by-real-accounts-using-playbook-2021-09-16/">https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://www.reuters.com/technology/exclusive-facebook-target-harmful-coordination-by-real-accounts-using-playbook-2021-09-16/</a>

<sup>54</sup> Hoàng Hiền (2024, June 28). Sử Dụng Mạng Xã Hội Để Bảo Vệ Nền Tảng Tư Tưởng Của Đảng, Đấu Tranh Phản Bác Các Quan Điểm Sai Trái Thù Địch- Cách Làm Hay Của Ban Chỉ Đạo 35 Huyện Văn Quan. *Trang thông tin điện tử huyện Văn Quan*. Retrieved July 5, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/20240930115022/https://vanquan.langson.gov.vn/tin-tuc-su-kien/van-hoa-xa-hoi/su-dung-mang-xa-hoi-de-bao-ve-nen-tang-tu-tuong-cua-dang-dau-tranh-phan-bac-cac-quan-diem-sai-trai-thu-dich-cach-lam-hay.html">https://web.archive.org/web/20240930115022/https://wanquan.langson.gov.vn/tin-tuc-su-kien/van-hoa-xa-hoi/su-dung-mang-xa-hoi-de-bao-ve-nen-tang-tu-tuong-cua-dang-dau-tranh-phan-bac-cac-quan-diem-sai-trai-thu-dich-cach-lam-hay.html</a>

<sup>55</sup> Hoàng Hiền (2024, June 28). Sử Dụng Mạng Xã Hội Để Bảo Vệ Nền Tảng Tư Tưởng Của Đảng, Đấu Tranh Phản Bác Các Quan Điểm Sai Trái Thù Địch- Cách Làm Hay Của Ban Chỉ Đạo 35 Huyện Văn Quan. *Trang thông tin điện tử huyên Văn Quan*. Retrieved July 5, 2024, from

https://web.archive.org/web/20240930115022/https://vanquan.langson.gov.vn/tin-tuc-su-kien/van-hoa-xa-hoi/su-dung-mang-xa-hoi-de-bao-ve-nen-tang-tu-tuong-cua-dang-dau-tranh-phan-bac-cac-quan-diem-sai-trai-thu-dich-cach-lam-hay.html

- <sup>56</sup> Bộ Thông tin và Truyền thông trả lời kiến nghị của cử tri tỉnh Long An gửi tới sau kỳ họp thứ 4, Quốc hội khóa XV (2023, March 15). *Bộ Thông Tin Và Truyền Thông*. Retrieved Oct. 11, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/20240523205541/https://mic.gov.vn/bo-thong-tin-va-truyen-thong-tra-loi-kien-nghi-cua-cu-tri-tinh-long-an-gui-toi-sau-ky-hop-thu-4-quoc-hoi-khoa-xv-197157697.htm">https://web.archive.org/web/20240523205541/https://mic.gov.vn/bo-thong-tin-va-truyen-thong-tra-loi-kien-nghi-cua-cu-tri-tinh-long-an-gui-toi-sau-ky-hop-thu-4-quoc-hoi-khoa-xv-197157697.htm</a>
- <sup>57</sup> Open Observatory of Network Interference (2022, Dec. 23). iMAP State of Internet Censorship Report 2022-Vietnam. Retrieved Oct. 11, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://ooni.org/post/2022-state-of-internet-censorship-vietnam/">https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://ooni.org/post/2022-state-of-internet-censorship-vietnam/</a>
- <sup>58</sup> Nguyen-Pochan, Thi Thanh Phuong (2021). State management of social media in Vietnam. The Russian Journal of Vietnamese Studies. 5:1S. pp.23 33. Retrieved Sept. 30, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/20240303201402/https://hal.science/hal-03534168/document">https://web.archive.org/web/20240303201402/https://hal.science/hal-03534168/document</a>
- <sup>59</sup> Pearson, James (2020, April 22). Exclusive: Facebook agreed to censor posts after Vietnam slowed traffic sources. *Reuters*. Retrieved July 5, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/20240211150419/https://www.reuters.com/article/us-vietnam-facebook-exclusive-facebook-agreed-to-censor-posts-after-vietnam-slowed-traffic-sources-idUSKCN2232JX</a>
- <sup>60</sup> Pearson, James (2020, April 22). Exclusive: Facebook agreed to censor posts after Vietnam slowed traffic sources. *Reuters*. Retrieved July 5, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/20240211150419/https://www.reuters.com/article/us-vietnam-facebook-exclusive/exclusive-facebook-agreed-to-censor-posts-after-vietnam-slowed-traffic-sources-idUSKCN2232JX</a>

<sup>61</sup> Dwosin, Elizabeth, Newmyer, Tory, & Mahtani, Shibani (2021, Oct. 25). The case against Mark Zuckerberg: Insiders say Facebook's CEO chose growth over safety. *Washington Post*. Retrieved July 5, 2024. from

https://web.archive.org/web/20211025114149/https://www.washingtonpost.com/technology/2021/10/25/mark-zuckerberg-facebook-whistleblower/

<sup>62</sup> Thảo Anh (2024, Nov. 28). Phổ Biến Nghị Định Số 147/2024/NĐ-CP Về Quản Lý, Cung Cấp, Sử Dụng Dịch Vụ Internet Và Thông Tin Trên Mạng. Bộ Thông Tin Và Truyền Thông. Retrieved Dec. 16, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/20241216082818/https://mic.gov.vn/pho-bien-nghi-dinh-so-147-2024-nd-cp-ve-quan-ly-cung-cap-su-dung-dich-vu-internet-va-thong-tin-tren-mang-197241128174430012.htm">https://web.archive.org/web/20241216082818/https://mic.gov.vn/pho-bien-nghi-dinh-so-147-2024-nd-cp-ve-quan-ly-cung-cap-su-dung-dich-vu-internet-va-thong-tin-tren-mang-197241128174430012.htm</a>

<sup>63</sup> Thảo Anh (2024, Nov. 28). Phổ Biến Nghị Định Số 147/2024/NĐ-CP Về Quản Lý, Cung Cấp, Sử Dụng Dịch Vụ Internet Và Thông Tin Trên Mạng. Bộ Thông Tin Và Truyền Thông. Retrieved Dec. 16, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/20241216082818/https://mic.gov.vn/pho-bien-nghi-dinh-so-147-2024-nd-cp-ve-quan-ly-cung-cap-su-dung-dich-vu-internet-va-thong-tin-tren-mang-197241128174430012.htm">https://web.archive.org/web/20241216082818/https://mic.gov.vn/pho-bien-nghi-dinh-so-147-2024-nd-cp-ve-quan-ly-cung-cap-su-dung-dich-vu-internet-va-thong-tin-tren-mang-197241128174430012.htm</a>

<sup>64</sup> Thảo Anh (2024, Nov. 28). Phổ Biến Nghị Định Số 147/2024/NĐ-CP Về Quản Lý, Cung Cấp, Sử Dụng Dịch Vụ Internet Và Thông Tin Trên Mạng. Bộ Thông Tin Và Truyền Thông. Retrieved Dec. 16, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/20241216082818/https://mic.gov.vn/pho-bien-nghi-dinh-so-147-2024-nd-cp-ve-quan-ly-cung-cap-su-dung-dich-vu-internet-va-thong-tin-tren-mang-197241128174430012.htm">https://web.archive.org/web/20241216082818/https://mic.gov.vn/pho-bien-nghi-dinh-so-147-2024-nd-cp-ve-quan-ly-cung-cap-su-dung-dich-vu-internet-va-thong-tin-tren-mang-197241128174430012.htm</a>

<sup>65</sup> Google. Government requests to remove content. Retrieved Sept. 23, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/20240528201147/https://transparencyreport.google.com/government-removals/government-requests/VN">https://web.archive.org/web/20240528201147/https://transparencyreport.google.com/government-requests/VN</a>

Freedom House (2023). Vietnam: Freedom on the net. Retrieved July 5, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://freedomhouse.org/country/vietnam/freedom-net/2023">https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://freedomhouse.org/country/vietnam/freedom-net/2023</a>

<sup>66</sup> Nguyễn, Thị Kim Ngân (2018, June 12). Luật An Ninh Mạng, No. 24/2018/QH14, Art. 16. *Thư Viện Pháp Luật*. Retrieved July 22, 2024, from

 $\frac{https://web.archive.org/web/20201124133709/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Cong-nghe-thong-tin/Luat-an-ninh-mang-2018-351416.aspx$ 

<sup>67</sup> Bộ Công An (Dec. 2021). Bảo đảm chủ quyền quốc gia trên không gian mạng. Kỷ yếu hội thảo khoa học cấp quốc gia, Tập 1. p. 225-229. Nhà Xuất bản Chính trị Quốc gia Sự thật.

<sup>68</sup> See Human Rights Watch (2016, Nov. 6). China: Abusive Cybersecurity Law Set to be Passed. Retrieved Sept. 30, 2024, from

https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://www.hrw.org/news/2016/11/06/china-abusive-cybersecurity-law-set-be-passed

<sup>69</sup> Trần, Tuyết Minh (2018, June 20). Công văn về việc tuyên truyền Luật An Ninh Mạng, No. 1009-CV/BTGTU. *Ban Tuyên giáo Tỉnh Uỷ Bình Phước*. Retrieved Sept. 30, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/0/https://binhphuoc.gov.vn/vi/laws/detail/Ve-viec-tuyen-truyen-Luat-Anhninh-mang-754/">https://web.archive.org/web/0/https://binhphuoc.gov.vn/vi/laws/detail/Ve-viec-tuyen-truyen-Luat-Anhninh-mang-754/</a>

<sup>70</sup> Tài liệu tuyên truyền về Luật An Ninh Mạng. *Ban Tuyên giáo Trung ương*. Retrieved Sept. 30, 2024, from

https://web.archive.org/web/20240930112327/https://tanbinh.hochiminhcity.gov.vn/documents/20574/49004/T7\_TAI\_LIEU\_TUYEN\_TRUYEN\_AN\_NINH\_MANG\_BTGTW.pdf/5c2a8f1f-184d-4361-a0cb-ac6e00ad0f9e

<sup>71</sup> Kiss, Alexandre Charles (1981). Permissible Limitations on Rights. In Louis Henkin (ed.), The International Bill of Rights: The Covenant on Civil and Political Rights. Columbia University Press. p.308

The Siracusa Principles on the Limitation and Derogation of Provisions in the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (1984, Sept. 28). UN Doc. E/CN.4/1984/4. para. 29. Retrieved Feb. 16, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://www.icj.org/wp-content/uploads/1984/07/Siracusa-principles-ICCPR-legal-submission-1985-eng.pdf">https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://www.icj.org/wp-content/uploads/1984/07/Siracusa-principles-ICCPR-legal-submission-1985-eng.pdf</a>

<sup>72</sup> Principle 2. Johannesburg Principles on National Security, Freedom of Expression, and Access to Information (1996). ARTICLE

19. U.N. Doc. E/CN.4/1996/39. Retrieved Feb. 16, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://www.article19.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/joburg-principles.pdf">https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://www.article19.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/joburg-principles.pdf</a>

<sup>73</sup> Nowak, Manfred (2005). U.N. Covenant of Civil and Political Rights: CCPR Commentary. (2nd ed.). Engel. p.445

Human Rights Committee (1979). 128th mtg. (statement by Mr. Tomuschat). UN Doc. CCPR/C/SR.128. para. 20. Retrieved Feb. 16, 2024, from

 $\frac{https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://tbinternet.ohchr.org/\_layouts/15/TreatyBodyExternal/Download.a}{spx?symbolno=CCPR%2FC%2FSR.128\&Lang=en}$ 

<sup>74</sup> Principle 7. Johannesburg Principles on National Security, Freedom of Expression, and Access to Information (1996). ARTICLE 19. U.N. Doc. E/CN.4/1996/39. Retrieved Feb. 16, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://www.article19.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/joburg-principles.pdf">https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://www.article19.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/joburg-principles.pdf</a>

<sup>75</sup> Nguyễn, Thị Kim Ngân (2018, June 12). Luật An Ninh Mạng, No. 24/2018/QH14, Art. 16. *Thư Viện Pháp Luật*. Retrieved July 22, 2024, from

 $\underline{https://web.archive.org/web/20201124133709/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Cong-nghe-thong-tin/Luat-an-ninh-mang-2018-351416.aspx}$ 

<sup>76</sup> Nguyễn, Thị Kim Ngân (2018, June 12). Luật An Ninh Mạng, No. 24/2018/QH14, Art. 26. *Thư Viện Pháp Luật*. Retrieved July 22, 2024, from

 $\underline{https://web.archive.org/web/20201124133709/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Cong-nghe-thong-tin/Luat-an-ninh-mang-2018-351416.aspx}$ 

<sup>77</sup> Nguyễn, Thị Kim Ngân (2018, June 12). Luật An Ninh Mạng, No. 24/2018/QH14, Art. 21. *Thư Viện Pháp Luật*. Retrieved July 22, 2024, from

https://web.archive.org/web/20201124133709/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Cong-nghe-thong-tin/Luat-an-ninh-mang-2018-351416.aspx

<sup>78</sup> Tranh chấp đất Đồng Tâm: Máu đổ, người chết (2020, January 9). *BBC News Tiếng Việt*. Retrieved Jan. 25, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://www.bbc.com/vietnamese/vietnam-51043856">https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://www.bbc.com/vietnamese/vietnam-51043856</a>

<sup>79</sup> Frank La Rue, Special Rapporteur on the Promotion and Protection of the Right to Freedom and Expression (2011, May 16). Report of the Special Rapporteur on the Promotion and Protection of the Right to Freedom of Opinion and Expression. U.N. Doc A/HRC/17/27. para. 15. Retrieved July 5, 2024, from

 $\frac{https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://undocs.org/Home/Mobile?FinalSymbol=A%2FHRC%2F17%2F27\&Language=E\&DeviceType=Desktop\&LangRequested=False}{\frac{https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://undocs.org/Home/Mobile?FinalSymbol=A%2FHRC%2F17%2F27\&Language=E\&DeviceType=Desktop\&LangRequested=False}{\frac{https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://undocs.org/Home/Mobile?FinalSymbol=A%2FHRC%2F17%2F27\&Language=E\&DeviceType=Desktop&LangRequested=False}{\frac{https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://undocs.org/Home/Mobile?FinalSymbol=A%2FHRC%2F17%2F27&Language=E\&DeviceType=Desktop&LangRequested=False}{\frac{https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://web/archive.org/web/2/https://web/archive.org/web/2/https://web/archive.org/web/2/https://web/archive.org/web/2/https://web/archive.org/web/ar$ 

<sup>80</sup> Joint Declaration on Freedom of Expression and the Internet (2011, June 1). UN Special Rapporteur on Freedom of Opinion and Expression (Special Rapporteur on FOE), the Organization for Security and Co-operation in Europe (OSCE) Representative on Freedom of the Media, the Organization of American States (OAS) Special Rapporteur on Freedom of Expression and the African Commission on Human and Peoples' Rights (ACHPR) Special Rapporteur on Freedom of Expression and Access to Information. para 6(b). Retrieved July 5, 2024, from

https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://www.osce.org/representative-on-freedom-of-media/78309

- <sup>81</sup> Nguyễn, Thị Kim Ngân (2016, April 05). Luật Báo Chí, No. 103/2016/QH13. *Thư Viện Pháp Luật*. Retrieved July 22, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Van-hoa-Xa-hoi/Luat-Bao-chi-2016-280645.aspx">https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Van-hoa-Xa-hoi/Luat-Bao-chi-2016-280645.aspx</a>
- <sup>82</sup> Vietnam deals with privatization of newspapers (2022, Nov. 10). *Vietnamnet Global*. Retrieved Sept. 24, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/20240711025412/https://vietnamnet.vn/en/mic-deals-with-privatization-of-newspapers-2068149.html">https://web.archive.org/web/20240711025412/https://vietnamnet.vn/en/mic-deals-with-privatization-of-newspapers-2068149.html</a>
- <sup>83</sup> Phạm, Anh Tuấn (2022, July 22). Quyết Định Về Việc Ban Hành Tiêu Chí Nhận Diện "Báo Hóa" Tạp Chí, "Báo Hóa" Trang Thông Tin Điện Tử Tổng Hợp, "Báo Hóa" Mạng Xã Hội Và Biểu Hiện "Tư Nhân Hóa" Báo Chí, No. 1418/QĐ-BTTTT. *Thư Viện Pháp Luật*. Retrieved July 22, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/0/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Cong-nghe-thong-tin/Quyet-dinh-1418-QD-BTTTT-2022-tieu-chi-nhan-dien-bao-hoa-tap-chi-va-trang-dien-tu-tong-hop-523570.aspx</a>
- <sup>84</sup> Human Rights Committee (2011, Sept. 12). General Comment No. 34. UN Doc. CCPR/C/GC/34. para. 43. Retrieved Feb. 16, 2024, from

https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/hrc/docs/gc34.pdf

<sup>85</sup> Human Rights Committee (2011, Sept. 12). General Comment No. 34. UN Doc. CCPR/C/GC/34. para. 43. Retrieved Feb. 16, 2024, from

https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/hrc/docs/gc34.pdf

<sup>86</sup> Human Rights Committee (2011, Sept. 12). General Comment No. 34. UN Doc. CCPR/C/GC/34. para. 42. Retrieved Feb. 16, 2024, from

https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/hrc/docs/gc34.pdf

<sup>87</sup> ASIAN Briefing (2024, May 15). Vietnam's Updated Telecommunications Law Takes Effect July 1. Retrieved Sept. 30, 2024, from

https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://www.aseanbriefing.com/news/vietnams-updated-telecommunications-law-takes-effect-july-1/

- <sup>88</sup> Nguyễn, Phú Trọng (2009, Nov. 23). Luật Viễn Thông, No. 41/2009/QH12. *Thư Viện Pháp Luật*. Retrieved July 22, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Congnghe-thong-tin/Luat-vien-thong-nam-2009-98748.aspx">https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Congnghe-thong-tin/Luat-vien-thong-nam-2009-98748.aspx</a>
- <sup>89</sup> VNNIC. About us. Retrieved September 24, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://vnnic.vn/?lang=vi">https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://vnnic.vn/?lang=vi</a>
- <sup>90</sup> Thuỷ Liên (2022, Sept. 24). Nâng cao kỹ năng xử lý thông tin trên mạng xã hội cho giới trẻ. *Tạp Chí Thông Tin & Truyền Thông*. Retrieved July 22, 2024, from

https://ictvietnam.vn/nang-cao-ky-nang-xu-ly-thong-tin-tren-mang-xa-hoi-cho-gioi-tre-19377.html

<sup>91</sup> Nguyễn, Phú Trọng (2006, June 29). Luật Công Nghệ Thông Tin, No. 67/2006/QH11. *Thư Viện Pháp Luật*. Retrieved July 22, 2024, from

https://web.archive.org/web/20230930043032/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Cong-nghe-thong-tin/Luat-cong-nghe-thong-tin-2006-67-2006-QH11-12987.aspx

<sup>92</sup> Nguyễn, Phú Trọng (2006, June 29). Luật Công Nghệ Thông Tin, No. 67/2006/QH11. *Thư Viện Pháp Luật*. Retrieved July 22, 2024, from

https://web.archive.org/web/20230930043032/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Cong-nghe-thong-tin/Luat-cong-nghe-thong-tin-2006-67-2006-QHII-12987.aspx

<sup>93</sup> Nguyễn, Phú Trọng (2006, June 29). Luật Công Nghệ Thông Tin, No. 67/2006/QH11. *Thư Viện Pháp Luật*. Retrieved July 22, 2024, from

https://web.archive.org/web/20230930043032/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Cong-nghe-thong-tin/Luat-cong-nghe-thong-tin-2006-67-2006-QHII-12987.aspx

<sup>94</sup> Vũ, Đức Đam (2021, July 20). Nghị Định Sửa Đổi, Bổ Sung Một Số Điều Của Nghị Định Số 181/2013/Nđ-Cp Ngày 14 Tháng 11 Năm 2013 Của Chính Phủ Quy Định Chi Tiết Thi Hành Một Số Điều Của Luật Quảng Cáo, No. 70/2021/NĐ-CP. *Thư Viện Pháp Luật*. Retrieved Oct. 11, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Thuong-mai/Nghi-dinh-70-2021-ND-CP-sua-doi-Nghi-dinh-181-2013-ND-CP-huong-dan-Luat-Quang-cao-450696.aspx">https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Thuong-mai/Nghi-dinh-70-2021-ND-CP-sua-doi-Nghi-dinh-181-2013-ND-CP-huong-dan-Luat-Quang-cao-450696.aspx</a>

<sup>95</sup> Vũ, Đức Đam (2021, July 20). Nghị Định Sửa Đổi, Bổ Sung Một Số Điều Của Nghị Định Số 181/2013/Nđ-Cp Ngày 14 Tháng 11 Năm 2013 Của Chính Phủ Quy Định Chi Tiết Thi Hành Một Số Điều Của Luật Quảng Cáo, No. 70/2021/NĐ-CP, Art. 14.2. *Thư Viện Pháp Luật*. Retrieved Oct. 11, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Thuong-mai/Nghi-dinh-70-2021-ND-CP-sua-doi-Nghi-dinh-181-2013-ND-CP-huong-dan-Luat-Quang-cao-450696.aspx">https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Thuong-mai/Nghi-dinh-70-2021-ND-CP-sua-doi-Nghi-dinh-181-2013-ND-CP-huong-dan-Luat-Quang-cao-450696.aspx</a>

<sup>96</sup> Giải pháp nào cho tình trạng tràn lan quảng cáo vi phạm trên mạng? (2022, Dec. 3). *VTV Online*. Retrieve Oct. 11, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/20240502014207/https://vtv.vn/cong-nghe/giai-phap-nao-cho-tinh-trang-tran-lan-quang-cao-vi-pham-tren-mang-20221202233433965.htm">https://web.archive.org/web/20240502014207/https://vtv.vn/cong-nghe/giai-phap-nao-cho-tinh-trang-tran-lan-quang-cao-vi-pham-tren-mang-20221202233433965.htm</a>

<sup>97</sup> Tilleke & Gibbins (2022, August 19). Decree 53 provides long-awaited guidance on implementation of Vietnam's cybersecurity law. Retrieved July 5, 2024, from

https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://www.tilleke.com/insights/decree-53-provides-long-awaited-guidance-on-implementation-of-vietnams-cybersecurity-law/

<sup>98</sup> Vũ, Đức Đam (2022, Aug. 15). Nghị Định Quy Định Chi Tiết Một Số Điều Của Luật An Ninh Mạng, No. 53/2022/NĐ-CP. *Thư Viện Pháp Luật*. Retrieved July 22, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/0/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Cong-nghe-thong-tin/Nghi-dinh-53-2022-ND-CP-huong-dan-Luat-An-ninh-mang-398695.aspx">https://web.archive.org/web/0/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Cong-nghe-thong-tin/Nghi-dinh-53-2022-ND-CP-huong-dan-Luat-An-ninh-mang-398695.aspx</a>

<sup>99</sup> Vũ, Đức Đam (2022, Aug. 15). Nghị Định Quy Định Chi Tiết Một Số Điều Của Luật An Ninh Mạng, No. 53/2022/NĐ-CP, Art. 21. *Thư Viện Pháp Luật*. Retrieved July 22, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/0/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Cong-nghe-thong-tin/Nghi-dinh-53-2022-ND-CP-huong-dan-Luat-An-ninh-mang-398695.aspx">https://web.archive.org/web/0/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Cong-nghe-thong-tin/Nghi-dinh-53-2022-ND-CP-huong-dan-Luat-An-ninh-mang-398695.aspx</a>

<sup>100</sup> Hồ, Đức Phớc (2024, Nov. 9). Nghị Định Quản lý, cung cấp, sử dụng dịch vụ internet và thông tin trên mạng, No. 147/2024/NĐ-CP, Art. 23. *Cổng Thông Tin Điện Tử Chính Phủ*. Retrieved Nov. 22, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/20241122100058/https://datafiles.chinhphu.vn/cpp/files/vbpq/2024/11/147-nd.signed.pdf">https://web.archive.org/web/20241122100058/https://datafiles.chinhphu.vn/cpp/files/vbpq/2024/11/147-nd.signed.pdf</a>

<sup>101</sup> Hồ, Đức Phớc (2024, Nov. 9). Nghị Định Quản lý, cung cấp, sử dụng dịch vụ internet và thông tin trên mạng, No. 147/2024/NĐ-CP, Art. 23. *Cổng Thông Tin Điện Tử Chính Phủ*. Retrieved Nov. 22, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/20241122100058/https://datafiles.chinhphu.vn/cpp/files/vbpq/2024/11/147-nd.signed.pdf">https://web.archive.org/web/20241122100058/https://datafiles.chinhphu.vn/cpp/files/vbpq/2024/11/147-nd.signed.pdf</a>

<sup>102</sup> Hồ, Đức Phớc (2024, Nov. 9). Nghị Định Quản lý, cung cấp, sử dụng dịch vụ internet và thông tin trên mạng, No. 147/2024/NĐ-CP, Art. 23. *Cổng Thông Tin Điện Tử Chính Phủ*. Retrieved Nov. 22, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/20241122100058/https://datafiles.chinhphu.vn/cpp/files/vbpq/2024/11/147-nd.signed.pdf">https://web.archive.org/web/20241122100058/https://datafiles.chinhphu.vn/cpp/files/vbpq/2024/11/147-nd.signed.pdf</a>

<sup>103</sup> Hồ, Đức Phớc (2024, Nov. 9). Nghị Định Quản lý, cung cấp, sử dụng dịch vụ internet và thông tin trên mạng, No. 147/2024/NĐ-CP, Art. 23. *Cổng Thông Tin Điện Tử Chính Phủ*. Retrieved Nov. 22, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/20241122100058/https://datafiles.chinhphu.vn/cpp/files/vbpq/2024/11/147-nd.signed.pdf">https://web.archive.org/web/20241122100058/https://datafiles.chinhphu.vn/cpp/files/vbpq/2024/11/147-nd.signed.pdf</a>

<sup>104</sup> Hồ, Đức Phớc (2024, Nov. 9). Nghị Định Quản lý, cung cấp, sử dụng dịch vụ internet và thông tin trên mạng, No. 147/2024/NĐ-CP, Art. 23. *Cổng Thông Tin Điện Tử Chính Phủ*. Retrieved Nov. 22, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/2024]122]00058/https://datafiles.chinhphu.vn/cpp/files/vbpq/2024/]1/147-nd.signed.pdf</a>

<sup>105</sup> These are people who were principally arrested for their online political speech. The percentage of arrests out of total political prisoners increased each year from 2019-2021 and held steady between 2021 and 2022. Due to continued processing of 2022 data by our team, 2022 results should still be considered preliminary.

<sup>106</sup> Since 2022, Article 331 has become the most common charge. Article 117 is still the second most common charge in political prosecutions—10 people were arrested in 2022 under this provision. In total, since 2018 at least 63 people have been charged under Article 117 due to their online speech.

Project88 (2023, Dec. 19). Human Rights Report Vietnam January 2022-June 2023. Retrieved Jan. 5, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://the88project.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/12/Annual-Report-2022-23\_121523.pdf">https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://the88project.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/12/Annual-Report-2022-23\_121523.pdf</a>

<sup>107</sup> Human Rights Committee (2011, Sept. 12). General Comment No. 34. UN Doc. CCPR/C/GC/34. para. 25. Retrieved Feb. 16, 2024, from

https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/hrc/docs/gc34.pdf

<sup>108</sup> OHCHR (2021, Jan. 14). Viet Nam: Arrests send chilling message before key party meeting – UN experts. Retrieved Sept. 24, 2024, from

https://web.archive.org/web/20231025135714/https://www.ohchr.org/en/press-releases/2021/01/viet-nam-arrests-send-chilling-message-key-party-meeting-un-experts?LangID=E&NewsID=26661

<sup>109</sup> Human Rights Committee (2019, Aug. 29). Concluding observations on the third periodic report of Viet Nam. Retrieved Sept. 24, 2024, from

https://web.archive.org/web/20240930104902/https://documents.un.org/doc/undoc/gen/g19/257/52/pdf/g1925752.pdf

<sup>110</sup> In 2022, 16 of the 28 political arrests recorded by Project88 in 2022 came under Article 331. In addition, 19 of the 33 political defendants who were convicted in 2022 were convicted under this provision.

Project88 (2023, Dec. 19). Human Rights Report Vietnam January 2022-June 2023. Retrieved Jan. 5, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://the88project.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/12/Annual-Report-2022-23\_121523.pdf">https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://the88project.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/12/Annual-Report-2022-23\_121523.pdf</a>

III H. Khương and G. Minh (2010, Nov. 2). Khởi tố, bắt tạm giam blogger "Cô gái đồ long". *Tuổi Trẻ Online*. Retrieved Dec. 5, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/20241205133349/https://tuoitre.vn/khoi-to-bat-tam-giam-blogger-co-gai-do-long-408781.htm">https://web.archive.org/web/202412051333349/https://tuoitre.vn/khoi-to-bat-tam-giam-blogger-co-gai-do-long-408781.htm</a>

<sup>112</sup> Vietnam arrests 2 bloggers over past week (2010, Oct. 26). *Associated Press.* Retrieved Oct. 7, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://www.ctvnews.ca/vietnam-arrests-2-bloggers-over-past-week-1.567477">https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://www.ctvnews.ca/vietnam-arrests-2-bloggers-over-past-week-1.567477</a>

<sup>113</sup> Project88. Nguyen Phuong Hang.

https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://the88project.org/profile/579/nguyen-phuong-hang/

<sup>114</sup> Project88. Nguyen Phuong Hang.

https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://the88project.org/profile/579/nguyen-phuong-hang/

<sup>115</sup> Project88. Nguyen Phuong Hang.

https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://the88project.org/profile/579/nguyen-phuong-hang/

<sup>116</sup> Cha của nạn nhân chết bất minh trong đồn công an bị bắt do đòi hỏi làm rõ vụ việc (2023, April 28). *Radio Free Asia*. Retrieved Oct. 8, 2024, from

https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://www.rfa.org/vietnamese/news/vietnamnews/father-of-the-son-who-died-suspiciously-in-police-custody-prosecuted-and-arrested-for-continual-request-for-clarification-04282023092636.html

<sup>117</sup> Lĩnh án tù vì xuyên tạc sự thật, xúc phạm nhiều tổ chức, cá nhân (2023, Dec. 12). *Báo Công An Nhân Dân*. Retrieved Oct. 8, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://cand.com.vn/Ban-tin-113/linh-an-tu-vi-xuyen-tac-su-that-xuc-pham-nhieu-to-chuc-ca-nhan-i716743/">https://cand.com.vn/Ban-tin-113/linh-an-tu-vi-xuyen-tac-su-that-xuc-pham-nhieu-to-chuc-ca-nhan-i716743/</a>

<sup>118</sup> Principle 7 (1996). Johannesburg Principles on National Security, Freedom of Expression, and Access to Information. ARTICLE 19. U.N. Doc. E/CN.4/1996/39. Retrieved Feb. 16, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://www.article19.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/joburg-principles.pdf">https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://www.article19.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/joburg-principles.pdf</a>

- <sup>119</sup> Nowak, Manfred (2005). U.N. Covenant of Civil and Political Rights: CCPR Commentary. (2nd ed.). Engel. p.464–66
- <sup>120</sup> Frontline Defenders & Project88 (2023, Oct. 10). Vietnam UPR Submission. https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://www.frontlinedefenders.org/sites/default/files/vietnam\_upr\_submission\_-\_fld\_the\_88\_project.pdf
- <sup>121</sup> See Swanton, Ben (2023). Weaponizing the law to prosecute the Vietnam Four. Project88. https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://the88project.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/04/Weaponizing-the-law-report-Project-88-ENG.pdf
- <sup>122</sup> See Swanton, Ben (2023). Weaponizing the law to prosecute the Vietnam Four. Project88. https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://the88project.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/04/Weaponizing-the-law-report-Project-88-ENG.pdf
- <sup>123</sup> Hummer, Lucy and Champenois, Flora (2023, June). PDP8: Vietnam inches closer to commissioning its last new coal plant, but key coal phase out and participation questions remain. *Global Energy Monitor*. Retrieved Oct. 20, 2023, from

https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://globalenergymonitor.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/06/GEM-PDP8-Vietnam-June2023.pdf

<sup>124</sup> Human Rights Committee (2011, Sept. 12). General Comment No. 34. UN Doc. CCPR/C/GC/34. para.47. Retrieved Feb. 16, 2024, from

https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/hrc/docs/gc34.pdf

<sup>125</sup> Human Rights Committee (2011, Sept. 12). General Comment No. 34. UN Doc. CCPR/C/GC/34. para. 47. Retrieved Feb. 16, 2024, from

https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/hrc/docs/gc34.pdf

<sup>126</sup> Abid Hussain, Special Rapporteur on the promotion and protection of the right to freedom of opinion and expression (1999, Jan. 29). Report of the special rapporteur on the promotion and protection of the right to freedom of opinion and expression. UN Doc. E/CN.4/1999/64. para. 28. Retrieved July 5, 2024, from

https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://undocs.org/Home/Mobile?FinalSymbol=E%2FCN.4%2F1999%2F64 &Language=E&DeviceType=Desktop&LangRequested=False

Project88 (2023, Dec. 19). Human Rights Report Vietnam January 2022-June 2023. Retrieved Jan. 5, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://the88project.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/12/Annual-Report-2022-23\_121523.pdf">https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://the88project.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/12/Annual-Report-2022-23\_121523.pdf</a>

<sup>128</sup> Nguyễn, Sinh Hùng (2015, Nov. 27). Bộ Luật Tố Tụng Hình Sự, No. 101/2015/QH13, Art. 37. *Thư Viện Pháp Luật*. Retrieved July 22, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Trach-nhiem-hinh-su/Bo-luat-to-tung-hinh-su-2015-296884.aspx">https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Trach-nhiem-hinh-su/Bo-luat-to-tung-hinh-su-2015-296884.aspx</a>

Nguyễn, Sinh Hùng (2015, Nov. 26). Luật Tổ Chức Cơ Quan Điều Tra Hình Sự, No. 99/2015/QH13. *Thư Viên Pháp Luât*. Retrieved July 22, 2024, from

https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Trach-nhiem-hinh-su/Luat-to-chuc-co-quan-dieu-tra-hinh-su-2015-298378.aspx

Vũ, Đức Đam (2022, Aug. 15). Nghị Định Quy Định Chi Tiết Một Số Điều Của Luật An Ninh Mạng, No.
53/2022/NĐ-CP. Thư Viện Pháp Luật. Retrieved July 22, 2024, from

 $\frac{https://web.archive.org/web/20220821135927/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Cong-nghe-thong-tin/Nghi-dinh-53-2022-ND-CP-huong-dan-Luat-An-ninh-mang-398695.aspx$ 

Freedom House (2023). Vietnam: Freedom on the net. Retrieved July 5, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://freedomhouse.org/country/vietnam/freedom-net/2023">https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://freedomhouse.org/country/vietnam/freedom-net/2023</a>

<sup>130</sup> Vũ, Đức Đam (2022, Aug. 15). Nghị Định Quy Định Chi Tiết Một Số Điều Của Luật An Ninh Mạng, No. 53/2022/NĐ-CP. *Thư Viện Pháp Luật*. Retrieved July 22, 2024, from

https://web.archive.org/web/20220821135927/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Cong-nghe-thong-tin/Nghi-dinh-53-2022-ND-CP-huong-dan-Luat-An-ninh-mang-398695.aspx

<sup>131</sup> Tạ, Quang Đạo (2021, Sep. 03). Bài 2: Tin giả nhưng... hậu quả thật. *Báo Điện Tử Đảng Cộng Sản Việt Nam*. Retrieved July 22, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://dangcongsan.vn/canh-bao-thong-tin-gia/bai-2-tin-gia-nhung-hau-gua-that-589098.html">https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://dangcongsan.vn/canh-bao-thong-tin-gia/bai-2-tin-gia-nhung-hau-gua-that-589098.html</a>

<sup>132</sup> Project88. Bui Tuan Lam. <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://the88project.org/profile/592/buituan-lam/">https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://the88project.org/profile/592/buituan-lam/</a>

<sup>133</sup> Project88. Nguyen Thuy Hanh.

https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://the88project.org/profile/350/nguyen-thuy-hanh/

134 Project88. Nguyen Phuc Gia Huy.

https://web.archive.org/web/20240527091028/https://the88project.org/profile/607/nguyen-phuc-gia-huv/

<sup>135</sup> Project88. Nguyen Phuc Gia Huy.

https://web.archive.org/web/20240527091028/https://the88project.org/profile/607/nguyen-phuc-gia-huy/

<sup>136</sup> Project88. Nguyen Phuc Gia Huy.

https://web.archive.org/web/20240527091028/https://the88project.org/profile/607/nguyen-phuc-gia-huv/

<sup>137</sup> Project88. Nguyen Phuc Gia Huy.

https://web.archive.org/web/20240527091028/https://the88project.org/profile/607/nguyen-phuc-gia-huy/

<sup>138</sup> Forum Asia (2024, July 11). Vietnam: wife of detained blogger turned WHRD summoned. Retrieved Sept. 27, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://asianhrds.forum-asia.org/en/entity/za7906oa6">https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://asianhrds.forum-asia.org/en/entity/za7906oa6</a>

- 139 Project88 (2024, June 30). Interview with Doan Bao Chau.
- <sup>140</sup> Project88 (2024, June 30). Interview with Doan Bao Chau.
- <sup>141</sup> Project88 (2024, June 30). Interview with Doan Bao Chau.
- <sup>142</sup> Project88 (2024, June 30). Interview with Doan Bao Chau.

<sup>143</sup> Article 5, Section 3. Constitution of the Socialist Republic of Vietnam (2013). Retrieved Feb. 17, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Bo-may-hanh-chinh/Hien-phap-nam-2013-215627.aspx">https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Bo-may-hanh-chinh/Hien-phap-nam-2013-215627.aspx</a>

Nguyễn, Xuân Phúc (2020, Feb. 03). Nghị Định Quy Định Xử Phạt Vi Phạm Hành Chính Trong Lĩnh Vực Bưu Chính, Viễn Thông, Tần Số Vô Tuyến Điện, Công Nghệ Thông Tin Và Giao Dịch Điện Tử, No. 15/2020/NĐ-CP. *Thư Viện Pháp Luật*. Retrieved July 22, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Cong-nghe-thong-tin/Nghi-dinh-15-">https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Cong-nghe-thong-tin/Nghi-dinh-15-</a>

2020-ND-CP-xu-phat-vi-pham-hanh-chinh-linh-vuc-buu-chinh-vien-thong-tan-so-vo-tuyen-dien-350499.aspx

Vũ, Đức Đam (2022, Jan. 27). Nghị Định Sửa Đổi, Bổ Sung Một Số Điều Của Nghị Định Số 15/2020/Nđ-Cp Ngày 03 Tháng 02 Năm 2020 Của Chính Phủ Quy Định Xử Phạt Vi Phạm Hành Chính Trong Lĩnh Vực Bưu Chính, Viễn Thông, Tần Số Vô Tuyến Điện, Công Nghệ Thông Tin Và Giao Dịch Điện Tử Và Nghị Định Số 119/2020/Nđ-Cp Ngày 07 Tháng 10 Năm 2020 Của Chính Phủ Quy Định Xử Phạt Vi Phạm Hành Chính Trong Hoạt Động Báo Chí, Hoạt Động Xuất Bản, No. 14/2022/NĐ-CP. *Thư Viện Pháp Luật*. Retrieved July 22, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Vi-pham-hanh-chinh/Nghi-dinh-14-2022-ND-CP-sua-doi-Nghi-dinh-15-2020-ND-CP-xu-phat-hanh-chinh-buu-chinh-482325.aspx">https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Vi-buu-chinh-482325.aspx</a>

<sup>145</sup> Article 101 of Decree 15/2020/NĐ-CP, revised partially by Decree 14/2022/NĐ-CP.

Nguyễn, Xuân Phúc (2020, Feb. 03). Nghị Định Quy Định Xử Phạt Vi Phạm Hành Chính Trong Lĩnh Vực Bưu Chính, Viễn Thông, Tần Số Vô Tuyến Điện, Công Nghệ Thông Tin Và Giao Dịch Điện Tử, No. 15/2020/NĐ-CP. *Thư Viện Pháp Luật*. Retrieved July 22, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/20240807105908/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Cong-nghe-thong-tin/Nghi-dinh-15-2020-ND-CP-xu-phat-vi-pham-hanh-chinh-linh-vuc-buu-chinh-vien-thong-tan-so-vo-tuyen-dien-350499.aspx</a>

Vũ, Đức Đam (2022, Jan. 27). Nghị Định Sửa Đổi, Bổ Sung Một Số Điều Của Nghị Định Số 15/2020/Nđ-Cp Ngày 03 Tháng 02 Năm 2020 Của Chính Phủ Quy Định Xử Phạt Vi Phạm Hành Chính Trong Lĩnh Vực Bưu Chính, Viễn Thông, Tần Số Vô Tuyến Điện, Công Nghệ Thông Tin Và Giao Dịch Điện Tử Và Nghị Định Số 119/2020/Nđ-Cp Ngày 07 Tháng 10 Năm 2020 Của Chính Phủ Quy Định Xử Phạt Vi Phạm Hành Chính Trong Hoạt Động Báo Chí, Hoạt Động Xuất Bản, No. 14/2022/NĐ-CP. *Thư Viện Pháp Luật*. Retrieved July 22, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Vi-pham-hanh-chinh/Nghi-dinh-14-2022-ND-CP-sua-doi-Nghi-dinh-15-2020-ND-CP-xu-phat-hanh-chinh-buu-chinh-482325.aspx">https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Vi-buu-chinh-482325.aspx</a>

Nguyễn, Xuân Phúc (2020, Feb. 03). Nghị Định Quy Định Xử Phạt Vi Phạm Hành Chính Trong Lĩnh Vực Bưu Chính, Viễn Thông, Tần Số Vô Tuyến Điện, Công Nghệ Thông Tin Và Giao Dịch Điện Tử, No. 15/2020/NĐ-CP. Thư Viên Pháp Luât. Retrieved July 22, 2024, from

https://web.archive.org/web/20240807105908/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Cong-nghe-thong-tin/Nghi-dinh-15-2020-ND-CP-xu-phat-vi-pham-hanh-chinh-linh-vuc-buu-chinh-vien-thong-tan-so-vo-tuyen-dien-350499.aspx

<sup>147</sup> Vũ, Đức Đam (2022, Jan. 27). Nghị Định Sửa Đổi, Bổ Sung Một Số Điều Của Nghị Định Số 15/2020/Nđ-Cp Ngày 03 Tháng 02 Năm 2020 Của Chính Phủ Quy Định Xử Phạt Vi Phạm Hành Chính Trong Lĩnh Vực Bưu Chính, Viễn Thông, Tần Số Vô Tuyến Điện, Công Nghệ Thông Tin Và Giao Dịch Điện Tử Và Nghị Định Số 119/2020/Nđ-Cp Ngày 07 Tháng 10 Năm 2020 Của Chính Phủ Quy Định Xử Phạt Vi Phạm Hành Chính Trong Hoạt Động Báo Chí, Hoạt Động Xuất Bản, No. 14/2022/NĐ-CP. *Thư Viện Pháp Luật*. Retrieved July 22, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Vi-pham-hanh-chinh/Nghi-dinh-14-2022-ND-CP-sua-doi-Nghi-dinh-15-2020-ND-CP-xu-phat-hanh-chinh-buu-chinh-482325.aspx</a>

<sup>148</sup> Nguyen, Phuong & Pearson, James (2020, April 15). Vietnam introduces 'fake news' fines for coronavirus misinformation. *Reuters*. Retrieved Sept. 27, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/20240930111636/https://www.reuters.com/article/world/vietnam-introduces-fake-news-fines-for-coronavirus-misinformation-idUSKCN21X0E8/">https://www.reuters.com/article/world/vietnam-introduces-fake-news-fines-for-coronavirus-misinformation-idUSKCN21X0E8/</a>

<sup>149</sup> Bộ Công An (Dec. 2021). Bảo đảm chủ quyền quốc gia trên không gian mạng. Kỷ yếu hội thảo khoa học cấp quốc gia, Tập 1. p. 10-11. Nhà Xuất bản Chính trị Quốc gia Sự thật.

Danh Trong (2020, March 15). Hơn 654 người bị xử lý vì đăng tin thất thiệt về COVID-19. *Báo Tuổi Trẻ Online*. Retrieved Oct. 11, 2024, from

https://web.archive.org/web/20240706195904/https://tuoitre.vn/hon-654-nguoi-bi-xu-ly-vi-dang-tin-that-thiet-ve-covid-19-20200315095026411.htm

<sup>151</sup> Nguyen, Anthony (2020, May 8). Vietnam's government is using Covid-19 to crack down on freedom of expression. Slate. Retrieved Oct. 7, 2024, from

https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://slate.com/technology/2020/05/vietnam-coronavirus-fake-news-law-social-media.html

<sup>152</sup> Nguyen, Phuong & Pearson, James (2020, April 15). Vietnam introduces 'fake news' fines for coronavirus misinformation. *Reuters*. Retrieved Sept. 27, 2024, from

https://web.archive.org/web/20240930111636/https://www.reuters.com/article/world/vietnam-introduces-fake-news-fines-for-coronavirus-misinformation-idUSKCN21X0E8/

<sup>153</sup> Phạm, Anh Tuấn (2020, July 16). Báo Cáo Công tác thi hành pháp luật về xử lý vi phạm hành chính 6 tháng đầu năm 2020, No. 61/BC-BTTTT, p.4. Retrieved Oct. 17, 2024, from <a href="https://cspl.mic.gov.vn/Upload\_Moi/TinTuc/bc-thi-hanh-phap-luat-ve-xlvphc-6-thang-dau-nam-2020.pdf">https://cspl.mic.gov.vn/Upload\_Moi/TinTuc/bc-thi-hanh-phap-luat-ve-xlvphc-6-thang-dau-nam-2020.pdf</a>

<sup>154</sup> Ban Thời Sự (2022, Nov. 8). Tin giả, sai sự thật: Làm thiệt hại cả trăm tỷ đồng, gây bất ổn xã hội. *VTV Online*. Retrieved Oct. 17, 2024, from <a href="https://vtv.vn/xa-hoi/tin-gia-sai-su-that-lam-thiet-hai-ca-tram-ty-dong-gay-bat-on-xa-hoi-20221107232310391.htm">https://vtv.vn/xa-hoi/tin-gia-sai-su-that-lam-thiet-hai-ca-tram-ty-dong-gay-bat-on-xa-hoi-20221107232310391.htm</a>

<sup>155</sup> Vũ, Đức Đam (2021, Dec. 30). Nghị Định Sửa Đổi, Bổ Sung Một Số Điều Của Các Nghị Định Quy Định Xử Phạt Vi Phạm Hành Chính Trong Lĩnh Vực Du Lịch; Thể Thao; Quyền Tác Giả, Quyền Liên Quan; Văn Hóa Và Quảng Cáo, No. 129/2021/NĐ-CP. *Thư Viện Pháp Luật*. Retrieved Oct. 17, 2024, from <a href="https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/So-huu-tri-tue/Nghi-dinh-129-2021-ND-CP-sua-doi-Nghi-dinh-xu-phat-vi-pham-hanh-chinh-linh-vuc-du-lich-482326.aspx">https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/So-huu-tri-tue/Nghi-dinh-129-2021-ND-CP-sua-doi-Nghi-dinh-xu-phat-vi-pham-hanh-chinh-linh-vuc-du-lich-482326.aspx</a>

<sup>156</sup> Vũ, Đức Đam (2021, Dec. 30). Nghị Định Sửa Đổi, Bổ Sung Một Số Điều Của Các Nghị Định Quy Định Xử Phạt Vi Phạm Hành Chính Trong Lĩnh Vực Du Lịch; Thể Thao; Quyền Tác Giả, Quyền Liên Quan; Văn Hóa Và Quảng Cáo, No. 129/2021/NĐ-CP. *Thư Viện Pháp Luật*. Retrieved Oct. 17, 2024, from <a href="https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/So-huu-tri-tue/Nghi-dinh-129-2021-ND-CP-sua-doi-Nghi-dinh-xu-phat-vi-pham-hanh-chinh-linh-vuc-du-lich-482326.aspx">https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/So-huu-tri-tue/Nghi-dinh-129-2021-ND-CP-sua-doi-Nghi-dinh-xu-phat-vi-pham-hanh-chinh-linh-vuc-du-lich-482326.aspx</a>

<sup>157</sup> Nguyễn, Thị Kim Ngân (2018, June 12). Luật An Ninh Mạng, No. 24/2018/QH14, Art. 16. *Thư Viện Pháp Luật*. Retrieved July 22, 2024, from

https://web.archive.org/web/20201124133709/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Cong-nghe-thong-tin/Luat-an-ninh-mang-2018-351416.aspx

Hồ, Đức Phớc (2024, Nov. 9). Nghị Định Quản lý, cung cấp, sử dụng dịch vụ internet và thông tin trên mạng, No. 147/2024/NĐ-CP, Art. 23. *Cổng Thông Tin Điện Tử Chính Phủ*. Retrieved Nov. 22, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/20241122100058/https://datafiles.chinhphu.vn/cpp/files/vbpq/2024/11/147-nd.signed.pdf">https://web.archive.org/web/20241122100058/https://datafiles.chinhphu.vn/cpp/files/vbpq/2024/11/147-nd.signed.pdf</a>

<sup>158</sup> Nguyễn, Thị Kim Ngân (2018, June 12). Luật An Ninh Mạng, No. 24/2018/QH14, Art. 16. *Thư Viện Pháp Luật*. Retrieved July 22, 2024, from

https://web.archive.org/web/20201124133709/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Cong-nghe-thong-tin/Luat-an-ninh-mang-2018-351416.aspx

Vũ, Đức Đam (2022, Aug. 15). Nghị Định Quy Định Chi Tiết Một Số Điều Của Luật An Ninh Mạng, No.
53/2022/NĐ-CP. Thư Viện Pháp Luật. Retrieved July 22, 2024, from

https://web.archive.org/web/20220821135927/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Cong-nghe-thong-tin/Nghi-dinh-53-2022-ND-CP-huong-dan-Luat-An-ninh-mang-398695.aspx

<sup>160</sup> Trần, Tuyết Minh (2018, June 20). Công văn về việc tuyên truyền Luật An Ninh Mạng, No. 1009-CV/BTGTU, p.8. *Ban Tuyên giáo Tỉnh Uỷ Bình Phước*. Retrieved Sept. 30, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/20240217004957/https://binhphuoc.gov.vn/vi/laws/detail/Ve-viec-tuyen-truyen-Luat-Anh-ninh-mang-754/">https://web.archive.org/web/20240217004957/https://binhphuoc.gov.vn/vi/laws/detail/Ve-viec-tuyen-truyen-Luat-Anh-ninh-mang-754/</a>

<sup>161</sup> Vũ, Đức Đam (2022, Aug. 15). Nghị Định Quy Định Chi Tiết Một Số Điều Của Luật An Ninh Mạng, No. 53/2022/NĐ-CP. *Thư Viện Pháp Luật*. Retrieved July 22, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/20220821135927/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Cong-nghe-thong-tin/Nghi-dinh-53-2022-ND-CP-huong-dan-Luat-An-ninh-mang-398695.aspx">https://web.archive.org/web/20220821135927/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Cong-nghe-thong-tin/Nghi-dinh-53-2022-ND-CP-huong-dan-Luat-An-ninh-mang-398695.aspx</a>

<sup>162</sup> Vũ, Đức Đam (2022, Aug. 15). Nghị Định Quy Định Chi Tiết Một Số Điều Của Luật An Ninh Mạng, No. 53/2022/NĐ-CP. *Thư Viện Pháp Luật*. Retrieved July 22, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/20220821135927/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Cong-nghe-thong-tin/Nghi-dinh-53-2022-ND-CP-huong-dan-Luat-An-ninh-mang-398695.aspx">https://web.archive.org/web/20220821135927/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Cong-nghe-thong-tin/Nghi-dinh-53-2022-ND-CP-huong-dan-Luat-An-ninh-mang-398695.aspx</a>

<sup>163</sup> Nguyễn, Thị Kim Ngân (2018, June 12). Luật An Ninh Mạng, No. 24/2018/QH14, Art. 16. *Thư Viện Pháp Luật*. Retrieved July 22, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/20201124133709/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Cong-nghe-thong-tin/Luat-an-ninh-mang-2018-351416.aspx">https://web.archive.org/web/20201124133709/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Cong-nghe-thong-tin/Luat-an-ninh-mang-2018-351416.aspx</a>

<sup>164</sup> Vũ, Đức Đam (2022, Aug. 15). Nghị Định Quy Định Chi Tiết Một Số Điều Của Luật An Ninh Mạng, No. 53/2022/NĐ-CP. *Thư Viện Pháp Luật*. Retrieved July 22, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/20220821135927/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Cong-nghe-thong-tin/Nghi-dinh-53-2022-ND-CP-huong-dan-Luat-An-ninh-mang-398695.aspx">https://web.archive.org/web/20220821135927/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Cong-nghe-thong-tin/Nghi-dinh-53-2022-ND-CP-huong-dan-Luat-An-ninh-mang-398695.aspx</a>

<sup>165</sup> Trần, Lưu Quang (2023, April 17). Nghị Định Bảo Vệ Dữ Liệu Cá Nhân, No.13/2023/NĐ-CP. *Thư Viện Pháp Luật*. Retrieved Oct. 11, 2024, from

https://web.archive.org/web/20240907174638/https://m.thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Cong-nghethong-tin/Nghi-dinh-13-2023-ND-CP-bao-ve-du-lieu-ca-nhan-465185.aspx

<sup>166</sup> Trần, Lưu Quang (2023, April 17). Nghị Định Bảo Vệ Dữ Liệu Cá Nhân, No.13/2023/NĐ-CP. *Thư Viện Pháp Luật*. Retrieved Oct. 11, 2024, from

https://web.archive.org/web/20240907174638/https://m.thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Cong-nghethong-tin/Nghi-dinh-13-2023-ND-CP-bao-ve-du-lieu-ca-nhan-465185.aspx

<sup>167</sup> Trần, Lưu Quang (2023, April 17). Nghị Định Bảo Vệ Dữ Liệu Cá Nhân, No.13/2023/NĐ-CP. *Thư Viện Pháp Luật*. Retrieved Oct. 11, 2024, from 68

https://web.archive.org/web/20240907174638/https://m.thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Cong-nghethong-tin/Nghi-dinh-13-2023-ND-CP-bao-ve-du-lieu-ca-nhan-465185.aspx

<sup>168</sup> Cyrill, Melissa (2024, Sept. 26). Vietnam's First Draft of New Personal Data Protection Law (PDPL) Released for Public Comments. *Vietnam Briefing*. Retrieved Sept. 27, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/0/https://www.vietnam-briefing.com/news/vietnams-first-draft-of-new-personal-data-protection-law-pdpl-released-for-public-comments.html/">https://web.archive.org/web/0/https://www.vietnam-briefing.com/news/vietnams-first-draft-of-new-personal-data-protection-law-pdpl-released-for-public-comments.html/</a>

Lương, Tam Quang (2024). Tờ Trình Đề Nghị Xây Dựng Luật Bảo Vệ Dữ Liệu Cá Nhân, No. /TTr-CP. Chính Phủ. Retrieved Dec. 16, 2024, from

https://web.archive.org/web/20241216053511/https://chinhphu.vn/du-thao-vbqppl/du-thao-luat-bao-vedu-lieu-ca-nhan-6957

See also Tô, Lâm (2024). Báo Cáo Đánh Giá Thực Trạng Quan Hệ Xã Hội Liên Quan Bảo Vệ Dữ Liệu Cá Nhân, No. /BC-BCA-A05. Bộ Công An. Retrieved Dec. 16, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/20241216052729/https://bocongan.gov.vn/giao-duc-pho-bien-phap-luat/van-ban/Pages/gioi-thieu-van-ban.aspx?ItemID=1282">https://web.archive.org/web/20241216052729/https://bocongan.gov.vn/giao-duc-pho-bien-phap-luat/van-ban/Pages/gioi-thieu-van-ban.aspx?ItemID=1282</a>

<sup>169</sup> The draft law can be found here:

https://web.archive.org/web/20240927150910/https://chinhphu.vn/du-thao-vbqppl/du-thao-luat-bao-ve-du-lieu-ca-nhan-6957

<sup>170</sup> Hồ, Đức Phớc (2024, Nov. 9). Nghị Định Quản lý, cung cấp, sử dụng dịch vụ internet và thông tin trên mạng, No. 147/2024/NĐ-CP, Art. 23. *Cổng Thông Tin Điện Tử Chính Phủ*. Retrieved Nov. 22, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/20241122100058/https://datafiles.chinhphu.vn/cpp/files/vbpq/2024/11/147-nd.signed.pdf">https://web.archive.org/web/20241122100058/https://datafiles.chinhphu.vn/cpp/files/vbpq/2024/11/147-nd.signed.pdf</a>

<sup>171</sup> Hồ, Đức Phớc (2024, Nov. 9). Nghị Định Quản lý, cung cấp, sử dụng dịch vụ internet và thông tin trên mạng, No. 147/2024/NĐ-CP, Art. 23. *Cổng Thông Tin Điện Tử Chính Phủ*. Retrieved Nov. 22, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/20241122100058/https://datafiles.chinhphu.vn/cpp/files/vbpq/2024/11/147-nd.signed.pdf">https://web.archive.org/web/20241122100058/https://datafiles.chinhphu.vn/cpp/files/vbpq/2024/11/147-nd.signed.pdf</a>

<sup>172</sup> HCM City launches social listening software (2024, Feb. 27). *Vietnam News*. Retrieved March 12, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://vietnamnews.vn/society/1651098/hcm-city-launches-social-listening-software.html">https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://vietnamnews.vn/society/1651098/hcm-city-launches-social-listening-software.html</a>

<sup>173</sup> Hoàng, Văn Thiên (2024, Dec. 9). V/v Nội Dung Trả Lời Chất Vấn Tại Kỳ Họp Thứ 24, HĐND Tỉnh Khóa X, No. 1863/STTTT-VP. Sở Thông Tin Và Truyền Thông, Uỷ Ban Nhân Dân Tỉnh Bắc Kạn. Retrieved Dec. 16, 2024, from

https://web.archive.org/web/20241216071215/https://dbdc.backan.gov.vn/DocumentLibrary/6e683b0bf3 afbc61/1863%20STTTT-VP.pdf

<sup>174</sup> HCM City launches social listening software (2024, Feb. 27). Vietnam News. Retrieved March 12, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://vietnamnews.vn/society/1651098/hcm-city-launches-social-listening-software.html">https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://vietnamnews.vn/society/1651098/hcm-city-launches-social-listening-software.html</a>

<sup>175</sup> Truyền hình Báo Thanh Niên (2024, Feb. 28). Phần mềm lắng nghe mạng xã hội của TP.HCM hoạt động ra sao? *Báo Thanh Niên*. Retrieved March 13, 2024, from

https://web.archive.org/web/20240310223857/https://thanhnien.vn/phan-mem-lang-nghe-mang-xa-hoi-cua-tphcm-hoat-dong-ra-sao-185240227225036585.htm

<sup>176</sup> Hoàng, Văn Thiên (2024, Dec. 9). V/v Nội Dung Trả Lời Chất Vấn Tại Kỳ Họp Thứ 24, HĐND Tỉnh Khóa X, No. 1863/STTTT-VP. Sở Thông Tin Và Truyền Thông, Uỷ Ban Nhân Dân Tỉnh Bắc Kạn. Retrieved Dec. 16, 2024, from

https://web.archive.org/web/20241216071215/https://dbdc.backan.gov.vn/DocumentLibrary/6e683b0bf3afbc61/1863%20STTTT-VP.pdf

<sup>177</sup> Hoàng, Văn Thiên (2024, Dec. 9). V/v Nội Dung Trả Lời Chất Vấn Tại Kỳ Họp Thứ 24, HĐND Tỉnh Khóa X, No. 1863/STTTT-VP. Sở Thông Tin Và Truyền Thông, Uỷ Ban Nhân Dân Tỉnh Bắc Kạn. Retrieved Dec. 16, 2024, from

 $\frac{https://web.archive.org/web/20241216071215/https://dbdc.backan.gov.vn/DocumentLibrary/6e683b0bf3}{afbc61/1863\%20STTTT-VP.pdf}$ 

178 See Reputa's website <a href="https://reputa.vn/">https://reputa.vn/</a>

179 See Reputa's website <a href="https://reputa.vn/">https://reputa.vn/</a>

<sup>180</sup> Phùng Dũng (2024, March 1). Đấu Tranh, Ngăn Chặn, Xử Lý Thông Tin Xấu Độc Trên Internet, Mạng Xã Hội. *Báo Nhân Dân Điện Tử*. Retrieved Aug. 9, 2024, from

https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://nhandan.vn/dau-tranh-ngan-chan-xu-ly-thong-tin-xau-doc-tren-internet-mang-xa-hoi-post798197.html

Nền tảng Lắng nghe và giám sát mạng xã hội (VnSocial). *VNPT VinaPhone*. Retrieved Sept. 30, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://vnpt.com.vn/doanh-nghiep/san-pham-dich-vu/nen-tang-lang-nghe-va-giam-sat-mang-xa-hoi-vnsocial/">https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://vnpt.com.vn/doanh-nghiep/san-pham-dich-vu/nen-tang-lang-nghe-va-giam-sat-mang-xa-hoi-vnsocial/</a>

<sup>182</sup> Nền tảng Lắng nghe và giám sát mạng xã hội (VnSocial). *VNPT VinaPhone*. Retrieved Sept. 30, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://vnpt.com.vn/doanh-nghiep/san-pham-dich-vu/nen-tang-lang-nghe-va-giam-sat-mang-xa-hoi-vnsocial/">https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://vnpt.com.vn/doanh-nghiep/san-pham-dich-vu/nen-tang-lang-nghe-va-giam-sat-mang-xa-hoi-vnsocial/</a>

<sup>183</sup> VNPT (2022, May 17). Nắm bắt, thấu hiểu mong muốn người dân với Nền tảng VnSocial của VNPT. *VNPT VinaPhone*. Retrieved Sept. 30, 2024, from <a href="https://archive.is/gz]ty">https://archive.is/gz]ty</a>

<sup>184</sup> Nền tảng Lắng nghe và giám sát mạng xã hội (VnSocial). *VNPT VinaPhone*. Retrieved Sept. 30, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://vnpt.com.vn/doanh-nghiep/san-pham-dich-vu/nen-tang-lang-nghe-va-giam-sat-mang-xa-hoi-vnsocial/">https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://vnpt.com.vn/doanh-nghiep/san-pham-dich-vu/nen-tang-lang-nghe-va-giam-sat-mang-xa-hoi-vnsocial/</a>

VNPT (2022, May 17). Nắm bắt, thấu hiểu mong muốn người dân với Nền tảng VnSocial của VNPT. VNPT VinaPhone. Retrieved Sept. 30, 2024, from <a href="https://archive.is/qzlty">https://archive.is/qzlty</a>

<sup>185</sup> Trung tâm Điều hành Thông minh Tỉnh Bà Rịa- Vũng Tàu. *Viễn thông Tây Ninh*. Retrieved Sept. 30, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://vienthongtayninh.vn/images/vienthong\_cntt/Cng-ngh-Tr-Tu-Nhn-To-ca-VNPT-ng-dng-trong-Trung-tm-iu-hnh-thng-minh-IOC-tnh-Lo-Cai.jpg">https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://vienthongtayninh.vn/images/vienthong\_cntt/Cng-ngh-Tr-Tu-Nhn-To-ca-VNPT-ng-dng-trong-Trung-tm-iu-hnh-thng-minh-IOC-tnh-Lo-Cai.jpg</a>

<sup>186</sup> International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, Article 17.

<sup>187</sup> UN Human Rights Council (2014, June 30). The right to privacy in the digital age. UN Doc. A/HRC/27/37. para. 20. Retrieved July 5, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/20240927034311/https://undocs.org/Home/Mobile?DeviceType=Desktop&FinalSymbol=A%2FHRC%2F27%2F37&LangRequested=False&Language=E">https://web.archive.org/web/20240927034311/https://undocs.org/Home/Mobile?DeviceType=Desktop&FinalSymbol=A%2FHRC%2F27%2F37&LangRequested=False&Language=E</a>

<sup>188</sup> Frank La Rue, Special Rapporteur on the Promotion and Protection of the Right to Freedom and Expression (2013, April 17). Rep. of the Special Rapporteur on the Promotion and Protection of the Right to Freedom of Opinion and Expression. UN Doc A/HRC/23/40. para. 18. Retrieved July 5, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/20240708011127/https://undocs.org/Home/Mobile?FinalSymbol=A%2FHRC%25723%2F40&Language=E&DeviceType=Desktop&LangRequested=False">https://web.archive.org/web/20240708011127/https://undocs.org/Home/Mobile?FinalSymbol=A%2FHRC%2F23%2F40&Language=E&DeviceType=Desktop&LangRequested=False</a>

<sup>189</sup> Nguyễn, Sinh Hùng (2013, Nov. 28). Hiến Pháp Nước Cộng Hòa Xã Hội Chủ Nghĩa Việt Nam. *Thư Viện Pháp Luật*. Retrieved Oct. 4, 2023, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Bo-may-hanh-chinh/Hien-phap-nam-2013-215627.aspx">https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Bo-may-hanh-chinh/Hien-phap-nam-2013-215627.aspx</a>

<sup>190</sup> UN General Assembly (2013). Promotion and protection of the right to freedom of opinion and expression. para. 18. Retrieved Oct. 5, 2023, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/20240930120804/https://documents.un.org/doc/undoc/gen/n13/464/76/pd">https://web.archive.org/web/20240930120804/https://documents.un.org/doc/undoc/gen/n13/464/76/pd</a>

f/n1346476.pdf

<sup>191</sup> UN General Assembly (2013). Promotion and protection of the right to freedom of opinion and expression. para. 20. Retrieved Oct. 5, 2023, from

 $\underline{https://web.archive.org/web/20240930120804/https://documents.un.org/doc/undoc/gen/n13/464/76/pdf} \\ \underline{f/n1346476.pdf}$ 

<sup>192</sup> Nguyễn, Thị Kim Ngân (2016, April 6). Luật Tiếp Cận Thông Tin, No. 104/2016/QH13. *Thư Viện Pháp Luật*, Art. 3. Retrieved Oct. 4, 2023, from

 $\frac{https://web.archive.org/web/20240528211752/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Bo-may-hanh-chinh/Luat-tiep-can-thong-tin-2016-280116.aspx$ 

<sup>193</sup> Nguyễn, Thị Kim Ngân (2016, April 6). Luật Tiếp Cận Thông Tin, No. 104/2016/QH13. *Thư Viện Pháp Luật*, Art. 6. Retrieved Oct. 4, 2023, from

https://web.archive.org/web/20240528211752/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Bo-may-hanh-chinh/Luat-tiep-can-thong-tin-2016-280116.aspx

<sup>194</sup> Nguyễn, Thị Kim Ngân (2018, Nov. 15). Luật Bảo Vệ Bí Mật Nhà Nước, No. 29/2018/QH14. *Thư Viện Pháp Luật*. Retrieved Oct. 5, 2023, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Bo-may-hanh-chinh/Luat-Bao-ve-bi-mat-nha-nuoc-2018-337064.aspx">https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Bo-may-hanh-chinh/Luat-Bao-ve-bi-mat-nha-nuoc-2018-337064.aspx</a>

<sup>195</sup> Human Rights Committee (2011, Sept. 12). General Comment No. 34. UN Doc. CCPR/C/GC/34. para. 30. Retrieved Feb. 16, 2024, from

https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/hrc/docs/gc34.pdf

<sup>196</sup> Principle 2. Johannesburg Principles on National Security, Freedom of Expression, and Access to Information (1996). ARTICLE 19. U.N. Doc. E/CN.4/1996/39. Retrieved Feb. 16, 2024, from <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://www.article19.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/joburg-principles.pdf">https://web.archive.org/web/2/https://www.article19.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/joburg-principles.pdf</a>

Project88, January 2025 (CC BY-NC 4.0)

About Creative Commons license 4:

This work is created under the Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial 4.0 International license. You are free to share, copy and redistribute the material or adapt upon the material, provided you:

- 1. Give credit to Project 88.
- 2. Do not use this work for commercial purposes.
- 3. Distribute any works derived from this publication under a license identical to this one.

Suggested citation: Altman-Lupu, Michael & Swanton, Ben (2025, Jan. 22). Clampdown: New restrictions on freedom of expression in Vietnam. Project 88.











